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● (1100)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. Ron McKinnon (Coquitlam—Port Coquit‐

lam, Lib.)): I call this meeting to order.

Welcome, everyone, to meeting number 32 of the House of Com‐
mons Standing Committee on Health. Pursuant to the order of ref‐
erence of May 26, 2020, the committee is resuming its briefing on
the Canadian response to the outbreak of the coronavirus.

To ensure an orderly meeting, I would like to outline a few rules
to follow. Interpretation in this video conference will work very
much like in a regular committee meeting. You have the choice, at
the bottom of your screen, of floor, English or French.

As you're speaking, if you plan to alternate from one language to
the other, you will also need to switch the interpretation channel so
it aligns with the language you're speaking. You may also want to
allow for a short pause when switching languages. Before speaking,
please wait until you are recognized. When you're ready to speak,
you can click on the microphone icon to activate your mike. As a
reminder, all comments by members and witnesses should be ad‐
dressed through the chair. When you're not speaking, your mike
should be on mute.

Please note that I will be very strict on time today, given the fact
that we have to move in camera later.

I would now like to welcome our first panel of witnesses. Ap‐
pearing as an individual is Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi, associate profes‐
sor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health at the University of Toron‐
to. From the Wellesley Institute, we have Dr. Kwame McKenzie,
chief executive officer. Welcome to you both.

We'll start with Dr. Siddiqi.

Please go ahead. You have 10 minutes.
Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi (Associate Professor, Dalla Lana

School of Public Health, University of Toronto, As an Individu‐
al): Thank you very much.

Thanks for the opportunity to speak with you today. I come here
with a deep sense of gratitude for my parents and all the others who
have made this possible, a strong sense of responsibility that comes
with my position as a scientist, and a burning desire for my country,
Canada, to do right by all its people.

I am associate professor and division head of epidemiology at the
University of Toronto's Dalla Lana School of Public Health, where
I hold the Canada research chair in population health equity. I am a

social epidemiologist and I study health inequities and the social
determinants of health, with a particular emphasis on the social
policies and other societal factors that are ultimately responsible for
giving everyone a chance at health.

Since the gravity of the COVID-19 pandemic became apparent,
Canadian officials have assured us that we are all in this together.
Indeed, daily briefings have impressed upon us a sense that the
overall number of cases and deaths in our cities and provinces is a
good proxy for how worried each of us should be about our risk for
COVID-19, or how confident we can feel about returning to some
of our pre-COVID activities.

However, in late May came a stunning report—if entirely pre‐
dictable by those of us who study these things and those of us who
live them—which suggested that the city-wide numbers we were
receiving in briefings from Toronto Public Health concealed enor‐
mous differences in the burden and risk of COVID-19 across
Toronto neighbourhoods. A similar phenomenon has also been not‐
ed for Montreal. Toronto's northwest neighbourhoods, which are
heavily black and working class—areas such as Jane and Finch,
Rexdale, and Weston—have been hardest hit. The latest figures
suggest case rates in excess of 450 per 100,000 in those neighbour‐
hoods.

Meanwhile the downtown core and central areas, which are
heavily white and wealthy, have barely been touched. For example,
Yonge and Eglinton has a case rate of 14, and Beaches has 15 cases
per 100,000.

This means that the overall figures for Toronto have been obfus‐
cating a more than 40 times greater risk of COVID-19 between
Toronto's black working-class neighbourhoods compared to its
white rich neighbourhoods. While the coronavirus itself does not
discriminate, our society unfortunately does. Canada is structured
in a way that has placed the burden of risk for COVID-19 squarely
on the shoulders and in the lungs of the black working class and to
a lesser extent other non-white working-class people.

The spatial distribution of COVID-19 across Toronto neighbour‐
hoods is less a reflection of neighbourhoods themselves being risky,
and more a reflection of the fact that the black people in Toronto
tend to live in a small set of neighbourhoods, the ones in which
they can afford housing and avoid housing discrimination, while
rich whites live in a set of neighbourhoods that offer the most con‐
venience and comfort.
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Why are we using neighbourhood data if neighbourhoods aren't
really the heart of the matter? Unfortunately, those are the best data
we have available for understanding the social characteristics—
race, income and so on—that carry risk for ill health, including
COVID-19. We are effectively using neighbourhood characteristics
as proxy for individual characteristics and because Toronto is so
starkly and structurally segregated, and people are so clustered by
race and income into various neighbourhoods, for now this is sadly
a reasonable proxy to make, even if it's imperfect.

My initial plea to you, then, is to think long and hard about better
collection of race and socio-economic data whenever we routinely
collect data in Canada on health and other matters in our health care
system, our schools, the labour market and so on. This is critical for
understanding our country and holding our government to account
for racial inequity in the same way gender data is used to tackle
gender inequity.

If not the neighbourhood itself, what then is creating greater risk
for black working-class people? Because the data is lacking, it's dif‐
ficult to be unequivocal about the answers to this question; howev‐
er, there is a very large and robust body of research from other
countries on which we can draw, as well as indirect evidence from
Canada.

The strongest explanation—though there are others I am happy
to discuss—is that essential service jobs that have continued during
the stay-at-home orders are largely occupied by black and other
non-white working class people.

● (1105)

They are our long-term care and personal support workers. They
clean our hospitals and shuttle patients around. They stock our gro‐
cery stores, drive our delivery trucks and work in the fields to har‐
vest our produce. Conversely, jobs that afford the opportunity to
stay home—along with the peace of mind about one's job security
and income—are largely occupied by wealthy white people. They
are our bankers and financiers, lawyers, and, yes, our professors.

The obvious consequence is that jobs occupied disproportionate‐
ly by black and other non-white Canadians force them into environ‐
ments that carry high risk for exposure to COVID-19, while jobs
disproportionately occupied by wealthier whites offer protection
from exposure to COVID-19.

At the end of the day, knowing that low-wage black and other
non-white workers have little choice, we are sacrificing them so
that the rest of us can cocoon in the comfort of our homes and wait
this thing out.

This racial job sorting is clearly not a function of chance or
choice. It is the outcome of a confluence of Canadian policies and
systems in which racial discrimination is so persistent and perva‐
sive that it cannot be regarded as an isolated incident or even as an
add-on to understanding our system of institutions and policies.
Rather, it is an integral part of the systems themselves. Various
scholars have used terms such as systemic racism, structural
racism, institutional racism and racial capitalism to refer to this
deep embedding of racism in our societal policies and systems.

Beyond jobs, systemic racism is more generally the major factor
that determines who has economic security, wealth and income. It
can be even more powerful than gender in this respect. In turn, eco‐
nomic security is the main predictor of health because it facilitates
the everyday living conditions that are foundational for health: jobs
that don't expose us to health risks, plenty of money to pay the bills,
comfortable housing, lovely neighbourhoods, good food and low
stress.

And this is true whether we're talking about COVID-19 or car‐
diovascular disease, depression or diabetes. At the end of the day,
you need economic security to have a good chance at living a
healthy life, and that is precisely why economic security is so cru‐
cial and it is precisely why racial and health inequalities are so per‐
vasive and so persistent. Racism limits black working-class peo‐
ple's access to wealth, jobs, income and so on. As horrible as it is
that we have racial inequities in COVID-19, this is really just an‐
other manifestation of a deeply entrenched system of racial in‐
equity.

So it's the root cause—systemic racism—that we really need to
fix in order to address COVID-19 inequities. In what follows I will
outline what the science tells us are our best options for doing so.

The first is to deal forcefully with racial wealth inequity, inequity
in stocks of money and assets.

Economists such as Miles Corak in Canada and William Darity
Junior and Darrick Hamilton in the United States have made a jar‐
ring discovery about wealth inequity which, as I will explain, is ar‐
guably even more critical than income inequality. It turns out that
the largest source of racial wealth inequity is not racial differences
in education or even in jobs and income. Those things matter but
they are the consequences, not the causes of racial wealth inequity.

The biggest source of wealth inequity is what economists refer to
as intergenerational transfers and what the rest of us would call
gifts from Mom and Dad and Grandma and Grandpa. That's right:
the white wealth advantage is not an earned advantage. Gifts are
what allow whites to pay for advancing their education and thus in‐
come, and what allow them to put down payments on homes early
in life.

This is unfair for many reasons, perhaps the greatest of which is
the historic injustices that have allowed whites but not others to ac‐
cumulate wealth over generations.
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So it is these wealth transfers that create opportunity for income,
rather than income creating opportunity for wealth. That means that
black Canadians have already fallen behind at birth. This is unac‐
ceptable, and Canada must consider, as the United States is doing, a
system of baby bonds or something similar in which young children
from black and other groups that have historically faced disadvan‐
tage are provided a sum that matures as the child ages and that in
adulthood can be used in the same way that family gifts have been
used by rich white families. Economists have even calculated how
long such a policy would take to create wealth equality.

In addition to resolving wealth inequity, we do need to address
income security for every Canadian. We need to design a labour
market in which every job is a high-quality job.
● (1110)

We need to ensure the wages, benefits and working conditions of
all jobs meet a high minimum standard and that employment dis‐
crimination is more rigorously penalized.

We have strong randomized trial data that tell us a very disheart‐
ening tale of racial discrimination in the labour market that cannot
be accounted for by differences in foreign degrees or lack of Cana‐
dian job experience.

We have to stop taking comfort in the fact that people are some‐
how managing to survive and create the conditions to let them
thrive. There are countless examples we can take of ways to imple‐
ment this. For example, a universal job guarantee would put an end
to involuntary unemployment and create good jobs to do important
work sorely needed by Canada. It would also put pressure on the
private sector to compete on wages and job conditions.

Finally, we must universalize access to basic services that create
high quality of life: child care, education, health and pharmacare
more broadly defined, elder care, and so on. We can't limit opportu‐
nities based on race and economic position any longer. It's so unjust
and so unbecoming of a country with so much to offer.

There you have it. There's no half-hearted way out for resolving
COVID-19 inequities. Even if we developed band-aid policies,
we'd be right back here talking about this or another racial health
inequity soon, because that's how it works. Without resolving the
fundamental structural issues of systemic racism and its impact on
economic security, nothing ever changes. That's simply not fair for
any Canadian to be subjected to.

While the policy solutions I've laid out are bold, they are very
doable. Many scholars have highlighted how these policies can be
designed and paid for. It's our responsibility—

The Chair: Doctor, pardon me, if you could wrap up, please.
Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Sure.

It's our responsibility to do better by all our people, and I certain‐
ly hope we do so.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Doctor.

We go now to Dr. McKenzie for 10 minutes.

Dr. Kwame McKenzie (Chief Executive Officer, Wellesley In‐
stitute): Mr. Chair and honourable members, thank you for inviting
me to speak to the standing committee.

I am a physician and also the CEO of Wellesley Institute, a think
tank that aims to improve health and health equity through research
and policy development focused on the social determinants of
health. This morning you should have been given the executive
summary of the briefing note we submitted to the standing commit‐
tee. The executive summary gives more detail on the recommenda‐
tions I am making today. The full briefing note goes into back‐
ground and gives references for my comments.

I'd especially like to thank Erica Pereira, the procedural clerk, for
getting the executive summary translated so quickly.

Survival for those on the Titanic over a century ago was directly
related to their social status: 60% of those in first class lived, while
42% of those in second class and only 24% of those in third class
lived. The Titanic’s escape plan was the same for everyone, but
third-class passengers were in lower internal berths and had diffi‐
culty getting to the lifeboats. The huge death toll was because there
was not an adequate plan for them, though they were the passengers
most in need.

Fast-forward 108 years to Canada’s COVID response. This has
actually been very good. We've done really well. But like the Titan‐
ic, we have not developed an adequate plan for our highest-risk
populations, such as people living in congregate settings, those with
lower incomes, and of course our racialized populations. Our initial
response was focused on flattening the curve, not on who was un‐
der the curve. If we'd focused on both, we would have had a better
response and we'd have saved thousands of lives.

We now need four groups of actions to ensure that our current
and future responses to pandemics are equitable and better. First,
we need legislation that ensures that our public health responses,
our health response and our social policy responses produce equi‐
table outcomes. Second, we need equity-based federal and provin‐
cial COVID-19 health and public health plans. Third, we need equi‐
ty-based social policy and recovery plans that ensure that the most
hard-hit populations are served properly. Last, we need data
streams, research and capacity building to ensure that we have good
socio-demographic, race and ethnicity information on which to
build and monitor public health, health and social policy interven‐
tions. I'll go through each of those in a little bit more detail.
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Recommendation one is for legislation. We've actually seen
racial disparities in infection rates and deaths in previous pan‐
demics. During the H1N1 pandemic in Ontario, the Southeast
Asian population was three times more likely to be infected, the
South Asian population six times more likely to be infected, and the
black population 10 times more likely to be infected than anybody
else. Despite this, we did not change our systems to collect socio-
demographic data. We did not do research or sit with communities
to try to find out why the disparities exist. We went into COVID-19
without the surveillance systems or knowledge that would help us
identify and deal with racialized health disparities. Then we set up a
Titanic response—a one-size-fits-all, colour- and culture-blind pan‐
demic plan that was predictably going to lead to health inequities.
Some have argued that this was negligent. I just say that it shouldn't
be legal. We have legislation for things we care about. We do not
leave them to the largesse of professionals, public servants or
politicians. If we want public services to produce equitable respons‐
es, we should enshrine this in enforceable law.

Recommendation two is for equity-based federal and provincial
COVID-19 health plans. We would have a fairer response if we
took a health equity approach to what is left of the first wave, to the
second wave and to the recovery. A health equity approach aims to
decrease avoidable disparities among groups. It ensures that people
with similar needs get the same pandemic response and people with
greater needs get a bigger response.
● (1115)

There are lots of evidence-based tools out there such as health
equity impact assessments, which could be used to build these sorts
of responses, and they have been shown to be effective in public
health in Canada. But when we build equitable plans we also have
to work with communities to develop strategies that allow them to
protect themselves from COVID-19.

Recommendation three is saying let's have those equitable plans,
but also let's link to what Dr. Siddiqi was talking about, because
health equity recognizes that the risk of illness and the ability to re‐
cover are not just linked to health interventions, but also to the so‐
cial determinants of health.

The Canadian Medical Association has calculated that 85% of
our risk of illness is linked to these social determinants such as in‐
come, housing, education, racism and access to health care. This of‐
fers significant policy opportunities for improving health, because
many health disparities are avoidable.

COVID-19 harms health in four ways: through the disease itself,
through the side effects of public health response, through health
care changes such as cancelled operations, and by the downturn in
the economy. These interact with the social determinants of health
so that some parts of our population are harder hit than others. As
Dr. Siddiqi said, Canada's black populations have been hardest hit
by COVID-19.

Our pandemic social policies and recovery plan need to be devel‐
oped so they decrease inequality and reach the hardest-hit people.
Decreasing differential risk linked to social determinants of health
is an important intervention here, and probably one of the most im‐
portant interventions. The idea of a focused recovery plan for the
hardest-hit populations would not only improve our response, but

would make those populations more resilient to future pandemics
and future waves.

The last is numbers and data. I'm a researcher and I'm in a think
tank. We think numbers and data are vital, and they have been vital
in the fight against COVID. We've relied on the number of cases,
the number of deaths, and suddenly everybody understands what an
R number is, which I never thought would happen in my lifetime.

Numbers are also useful in indicating whether our interventions
are working for everyone, and to do this we need disaggregated da‐
ta. We desperately need better data streams on race and ethnicity
and other social determinants of health for COVID-19, and for
health in general. We need similar data, of course, for social policy.
These data need to be good quality and there needs to be good data
governance and accountability. Communities increasingly want a
say in and control of the use of their data.

Wellesley Institute recommends that Canada collect individual-
level associated demographic data for COVID-19, including race
and ethnicity, and that Canada urgently undertake innovative analy‐
sis using existing data to get as accurate a picture of disparities as
possible. Also recommended is that Canada develop a strategy for
ongoing socio-demographic data collection for health and social
policy, including race and ethnicity.

But data is not an end in itself. Data has to be linked to meaning‐
ful strategies to decrease disparities. This will mean engagement
with communities, research and action to develop equitable public
health and social policy interventions.

In conclusion, public health is the art and science of preventing
disease, prolonging life and promoting health through the organized
efforts of society. Health equity interventions and the concept of so‐
cial determinants of health are important tools in helping us to or‐
ganize the best pandemic response. They are also a sound basis for
health and social policy.

● (1120)

The one-size-fits-all strategy actually led to a huge death toll on
the Titanic, and so far it's led to a significantly increased death toll
for some parts of the Canadian population during the COVID-19
pandemic.
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If we want a COVID-19 response and health systems to be more
fitting for the 21st century, we need legislation that ensures equity;
we need equity-based COVID-19 pandemic plans; we need social
policy and recovery plans focused on decreasing current inequities
and we need data streams and research that allow us to properly
identify risk groups, build appropriate interventions and monitor
their impact.

If we can put all of these in place, we'll move Canada's good re‐
sponse to being a great response, and we'll save lives.

Thank you very much.
● (1125)

The Chair: Thank you, Doctor.

We'll start our questions. We will do two rounds of questions and
we will start the first round with Mr. Jeneroux.

Mr. Jeneroux, please go ahead. You have six minutes.
Mr. Matt Jeneroux (Edmonton Riverbend, CPC): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for being here today. It is fascinating
testimony indeed.

Dr. Siddiqi, just to follow up on something you said, have you
had success in obtaining some of the demographic information that
you've talked about outside of just the greater Toronto area? More
specifically, is there data on the location of cases available across
Canada?

I know, for instance, that Ontario has a map that highlights
COVID clusters, but is there anything being provided at the federal
level that would be helpful to you?

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: There are two parts to it, and I might de‐
fer to Dr. McKenzie to help me out with his understanding of what
data are available.

There are actually two issues. The short answer is no, I haven't,
but there are two reasons why. One is that it's unclear to me the ex‐
tent to which the data that are available—which tend to be area-lev‐
el socio-demographics that we collect from the census, so when the
census is done we get a sense of how Canadians are distributed
across socio-demographic factors. We don't release that informa‐
tion, at least at all readily, at the individual level, but we do allow
people to access area-level information. That needs to be linked
right now to COVID cases, which is how we figured out what was
happening in Ontario, without understanding what individuals look
like. What I'm not sure of is whether other provinces have done that
to the same extent, but it would be doable.

The second part of that is that it's worth stating that I, personally,
have not accessed any of this data because we have a system in
Canada in which agencies and institutions hold the data and they
decide who gets to access it. That's very unlike, for example, the
situation in the United States where we can download these things
off the Internet. There is a lot of research activity that's happened
there, a lot of information and analyses that have been generated
about that society precisely because independent scientists can
readily ask these questions of the data rather than relying on agen‐
cies and institutions that have a lot of barriers for doing so.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Great. Thank you.

I interpret from that answer that it would be helpful to have some
of that national perspective data. Perhaps that's one recommenda‐
tion we can give to the department.

Mr. Chair, seeing as this might be one of our last meetings, I do
want to use my time to proceed with moving four motions. I'm cer‐
tainly happy to read them. I have the four in front of me here, but I
will ask you if you'd like me to read through each one. I know we
all have them in front of us, but I would like to move those four
motions at this time.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

You have the floor, so you can, in fact, move the motions. If you
do move them, you need to move them one at a time, and we can
deal with them one at a time.

I should also advise that we are going to an in camera session af‐
ter our second panel, so perhaps you might wish to choose to move
them there instead.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: I appreciate your advice, Mr. Chair. I'll pro‐
ceed with moving the first motion. I'll start with the longest motion.
If you want me to dispense at any time, please let me know.

I move that:
Pursuant to Standing Order 108(1)(a), the committee send for the following doc‐
uments to be provided by the government by Monday, August 3, 2020 and that
the documents be published publicly on the committee’s website by Monday,
August 10, 2020:

All documents, briefing notes, memorandums and emails, regarding the emerg‐
ing evidence that altered the government’s advice on the wearing of masks refer‐
enced by Dr. Theresa Tam, Chief Public health Officer, at her appearance before
the Standing Committee on Health on Tuesday, May 19, 2020, including all doc‐
uments, briefing notes, memorandums and emails to/from/between Health
Canada, the Public Health Agency of Canada, the Minister of Health’s office,
The Privy Council and the Prime Ministers office regarding the management of
the National Emergency Strategic Stockpile from 2015-2020, including supply
inventory broken down by number and all updates sent to the government and
the Government of Canada’s contracts for PPE since January 2020.

● (1130)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

Is there any discussion? Please signal your wish to speak by rais‐
ing your hand.

Dr. Jaczek, please go ahead.

Ms. Helena Jaczek (Markham—Stouffville, Lib.): Thank you
very much, Chair.

I'm wondering if Mr. Jeneroux would consider possibly amend‐
ing part of his motion, in particular the reference to emails. As you
will no doubt recall, when we did pass a couple of motions previ‐
ously, I think it was the decision of the committee that it would not
in fact be particularly helpful. It would obviously be a huge amount
of work in terms of collecting those emails. It would not necessarily
substantively assist in what is really the goal of the motion, which
is to find substantive documents in relation to government action.
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I would like to make what I consider to be a friendly amend‐
ment—to delete the requirement that emails be included.

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Jaczek.

Mr. Jeneroux, I see your hand up.
Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I guess I was anticipating something along those lines. I would
indicate to the member and to the other members that emails obvi‐
ously are important in the back-and-forth of this, because we know
that's one way in terms of how they communicate. We also want to
make sure that [Technical difficulty—Editor], because nobody here
is in the government. Nobody here knows what those emails say.
So it's helpful to the entire committee. Also, with reference to the
last minister we had before us, Minister Champagne, he referenced
text messages as being important. I know we've ceded on text mes‐
sages before.

That all being said, I know that these are important witnesses that
we all want to get to, so for this particular motion, we'll agree to the
friendly amendment, I guess, Chair, if that's what it's called, to re‐
place “all documents, briefing notes, memorandums and emails”
with “all documents, briefing notes and memorandums”.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

Do we have unanimous consent for that change? For that, I'll just
ask anybody in dissent to please speak up.

Hearing no dissent, I think we shall deem the motion moved as
Mr. Jeneroux has just signified....

Mr. Fisher, please go ahead.
Mr. Darren Fisher (Dartmouth—Cole Harbour, Lib.): Sorry,

Mr. Chair, but can you just...?

I was going to agree to the removal of emails, as Ms. Jaczek and
Mr. Jeneroux had suggested. Are you suggesting now that we're
voting on the motion or that we're voting on that unanimous...and
then, if there are other possible amendments to this motion, they
would come after that?

The Chair: We're not actually voting. I'm just asking if there is
unanimous consent for us to consider that Mr. Jeneroux has moved
his motion without the reference to emails.

Any further discussion on the motion is in order.

Mr. Webber, are you dissenting from the unanimous consent?
Mr. Len Webber (Calgary Confederation, CPC): I am, Mr.

Chair. I understand a bit more work is involved but I think these
emails are important. It will not be unanimous. I will dissent. Thank
you.
● (1135)

The Chair: Since there is no unanimous consent, if we wish to
make that change it will have to be done by an amendment. Does
someone wish to move such an amendment?

Mr. Darren Fisher: I move that we remove the word "emails"
from the motion.

The Chair: Very well. Is there any further discussion on the
amendment?

Seeing none, Madam Clerk, will you please call a vote on the
amendment, which is to remove the reference to emails and, of
course, make any appropriate grammatical corrections?

The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Erica Pereira): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

The vote is on the amendment. If you are in favour, say yea. If
you are opposed, say nay.

(Amendment agreed to: yeas 7; nays 4)

The Chair: We will now continue our discussion on the motion
as amended.

Mr. Fisher.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'm wondering if Mr. Jeneroux would be willing to remove the
PMO and the Minister of Health's office from this as well.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: No. Nice try.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fisher. Was that a motion or just a
comment?

Mr. Darren Fisher: I will move that we remove them.

The Chair: We will discuss Mr. Fisher's amendment, which is to
remove the explicit references to the PMO and the Minister of
Health's office.

Mr. Jeneroux.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Obviously, we believe it's important. I don't
know what this particular member is trying to hide between these
two. I'm trying to do this quickly because I know we want to get to
the witness testimony here. It's obviously crucial to hear the advice
that was given to the Minister of Health's office and the Prime Min‐
ister's Office, because they were making public statements on
masks at the beginning.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

Ms. Jansen.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen (Cloverdale—Langley City, CPC): It
concerns me that we started by being told that to give text messages
was too much. Now we're saying that our taking emails is too
much. Now we're going to take out the PMO. I find it mind-bog‐
gling that everything's too much. Some things are very important.
We need to get to the bottom of this.

● (1140)

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Jansen.

Mr. Davies.

Mr. Don Davies (Vancouver Kingsway, NDP): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.
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I just want to say two things. One is that I support the motions of
my colleague to be transparent and to hold the government account‐
able and to receive information that I think all parliamentarians
should be supportive of putting before the health committee, but I
am very mindful that we have two excellent witnesses here, who, I
think, are giving particularly important testimony today, particular‐
ly in light of the global focus on racism in this country.

This is the first time that we've really looked at the impacts of
COVID-19 on marginalized populations. I'm just wondering if it
wouldn't be better to take these motions.... I, for one, would certain‐
ly support holding a separate meeting where we could deal with
these motions because I'm concerned that if we continue talking
about these motions we will not have a chance to take advantage of
this wonderful expertise we have before the panel today and to ask
questions.

I wonder if Mr. Jeneroux would consider withdrawing the mo‐
tions at this point. According to Standing Order 104, if four com‐
mittee members agree to hold a meeting, then a meeting must be
held. I certainly will support that. Then we can deal with these very
important matters, but housekeeping matters, in a separate meeting
and get to hear from these excellent witnesses here today.

The Chair: Mr. Jeneroux, please go ahead.
Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Wholeheartedly, I agree with my colleague, Mr. Davies. I obvi‐
ously want to get through this as quickly as possible. These motions
are very straightforward in my opinion. I attempted to streamline
them there at the beginning.

I think this is a bit of an overreach from the government, by a
particular member, but if we go to a vote right away, I think that we
can get through these quite quickly and we can move this along and
get back to the important testimony from the witnesses.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

To the witnesses, I will point out that we are certainly mindful of
your testimony and your valuable expertise. However, we do have
to take motions when they come.

Dr. Jaczek, please go ahead.
Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you, Chair.

Certainly, I do find the testimony that we've heard today ex‐
tremely important and would certainly like to have my opportunity
to question the witnesses as well. However, we are now dealing
with this motion.

I was wanting to move yet another potential amendment very
much mirroring the wording that we passed a couple of weeks back
on a motion proposed by Dr. Kitchen.

The Chair: Pardon me, Doctor. We do have an amendment on
the floor. We have to deal with that before we can entertain further
amendments.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Exactly, so what I'm trying to say is that I
definitely feel we need to continue this discussion.

The Chair: Okay, thank you.

Mr. Kelloway, go ahead.

Mr. Mike Kelloway (Cape Breton—Canso, Lib.): Thanks, Mr.
Chair.

I just want to echo what MP Don Davies said. I absolutely be‐
lieve we have to have this discussion with respect to the motions on
the table and, of course, our response and our suggestions to them.

At the same time, as MP Davies mentioned, this is an important
conversation as well, which I think we could look at, whether in a
separate meeting or an in camera meeting, and we could address
and discuss collegially the motions on the table and at that point be
able to provide some feedback into those motions.

The Chair: Please go ahead, Mr. Desilets.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets (Rivière-des-Mille-Îles, BQ): Mr. Chair, I
agree with several of my colleagues, including Mr. Davies. This is
the second time in two weeks a process like this has happened. I
understand that we have to deal with motions, but, in my opinion,
we should deal with them separately, outside committee meetings. I
feel a little embarrassed dealing with such motions and discussing
my differences with my colleagues in front of these experts, who
are leaders in their field. I believe that this does not concern them.
Even though they are not really inconvenienced by it, I feel that it is
not appropriate.

We have two other motions to come and I am afraid that the
same process may be repeated. I would like you to take a position
on this motion and postpone it. Our rules allow us to deal with the
motion in a different time and place. I would actually like us to be
able to question these two witnesses, who are bringing us material
that is very different from what other guests have provided. It both‐
ers me greatly to miss this opportunity. So I would ask you to post‐
pone the discussions on this motion.

● (1145)

[English]

The Chair: Thank you, Monsieur Desilets.

It is the member's prerogative to move the motion when he has
the floor. As long as that's the case, we have to deal with it as it
comes.

Mr. Van Bynen, please go ahead.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen (Newmarket—Aurora, Lib.): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

I also agree with Mr. Kelloway and Don Davies. We have some
very valuable expertise in front of us today, and the opportunity
may not present itself to be included in the reports that we will be
discussing. Although the process and procedure permit the debate
now, I think that out of good conscience, in terms of getting a high-
value report in front of the people who will be reading it, we are
missing an excellent opportunity to hear and benefit from Dr. Sid‐
diqi and Dr. McKenzie. This is something that should not be
waived so quickly.
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If any members put forward a motion to adjourn the debate so
that we can hear these witnesses, I would be happy to support that,
as well. To me, this is an excellent and important opportunity on a
very significant issue for our country that can really influence the
future that we take, not just for this but also for any future issues
whereby we're creating pandemics and we need to decide between
equity and equality. This is an opportunity that should not be
missed, Mr. Chair. I believe this debate should move forward to an‐
other meeting.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Van Bynen.

Mr. Davies, please go ahead.
Mr. Don Davies: I don't know, Mr. Chair, if this motion is in or‐

der, but I think that I'm detecting majority support. I would move a
motion that we table all four of Mr. Jeneroux's motions and sched‐
ule a separate meeting in public, because I do believe these should
be debated in public, so that we can get back to hearing these wit‐
nesses today.

I find it ironic that we have witnesses who are talking about the
historic suppression of marginalized groups and not having their
voice taken into account in public policy, and here we are in a
meeting doing the same thing. I think it's particularly unfortunate
and, frankly, worthy of sanction to do so in this meeting. I would
move that we table these motions and schedule a separate meeting
as early as possible to discuss in public all four of these motions.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.
Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Mr. Chair, my hand has been up for a while

here. I'm not sure whether you've seen it.
The Chair: Sure. I'll just respond to Mr. Davies, and then I'll

give you the floor.

Mr. Davies, the motion you made is not in order at this time.
What would be in order is a motion to adjourn the debate on this.

Mr. Don Davies: Then I so move.
The Chair: Okay. We have a motion to adjourn the debate.

Before we entertain that motion, I wonder if Mr. Jeneroux has a
comment that would help us in this matter.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Yes, Mr. Chair.

Obviously, I want to make sure we get in as many people as pos‐
sible. At the beginning, I tried to play nice with the government and
move this along. Unfortunately, going after the one key aspect of
the motion isn't playing nice, at the end of the day. I would respect‐
fully ask, with I guess two motions now on the floor—so I'm not
sure whether this would be in order—if perhaps we were to look
at....

I don't feel that your original suggestion of being in camera is the
right suggestion, Mr. Chair, but I do feel that perhaps we could en‐
tertain half an hour or an hour after this particular meeting. I know
that there are no meetings after ours. I believe the clerk can confirm
whether or not we still have the room. If we could debate these mo‐
tions in public, I would certainly be happy to do that, to table these
now and move to that. However, I'm not sure if that is in order. I
will leave it up to you to determine whether I can withdraw a mo‐
tion or not at this point in time.

● (1150)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

Mr. Davies' motion is in order. However, if we are in unanimous
agreement to move to set up a separate meeting for this purpose—

Mr. Darren Fisher: Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Chair, but on a point
of order—I don't know the committee stuff like you do—Mr.
Davies was talking about moving a motion for a separate meeting,
but then he moved a motion to adjourn debate.

I think I would like to ask the clerk, perhaps, what happens when
that has been moved. As I understand it, there is no discussion after
a member has moved to adjourn debate. I'm just seeking clarity.

The Chair: That is correct; however, for us to execute Mr.
Davies' motion to adjourn debate, which we can certainly do, we
will then have three other motions to deal with. I am proposing that
if we have unanimous consent to withdraw Mr. Davies' motion, if
he wishes, and unanimous consent to withdraw Mr. Jeneroux's mo‐
tion at this time, and to take it up at another time—

Mr. Darren Fisher: Okay. You see? You are smarter than me.

The Chair: We can do things by unanimous consent, but if we
have no unanimous consent to act in this way, then we will deal
with Mr. Davies' motion and take the other motions as they may
come.

Mr. Davies, would you be in agreement with such an approach?

Mr. Don Davies: I would, Mr. Chair.

I mean, it seems to me that we might be able to short-circuit all
of this, as I hear Mr. Jeneroux's very generous and reasonable sug‐
gestion; I think I heard him say that we can withdraw everything, at
this point, and simply deal with these motions after we hear the wit‐
nesses in both panels today, which I think gets everybody to the
point that we're agreeing on.

Perhaps if you seek unanimous consent we can agree to table all
of these motions to the end of this meeting.

The Chair: All right. I will ask if we do have unanimous con‐
sent....

I'm sorry; that was after the end of this meeting? We don't have
time today to deal with all of this stuff. We will have only 20 min‐
utes for an in camera meeting, if we still have time even for that.
I'm proposing that we set up a separate meeting, perhaps next week,
to deal with this. I'm asking if we have unanimous consent to do
that.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Mr. Chair, I have just a quick point of order
on that. I do believe there is no meeting after ours. I think that was
part of my request, to confirm with the clerk that we could continue
on, if we wanted to, for that extra half hour or not.

The Chair: My information is that we have a hard cap at 2:40
eastern time.
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In any case, we're getting a little involved here. Do we have
unanimous consent to withdraw all the motions now on the floor
and to take them up instead at a meeting to be called for this pur‐
pose, at a time to be arranged with the clerk but possibly early next
week? Is there unanimous consent for that?

In fact, I'll ask the clerk to take a vote on this, just so we're clear.
Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Mr. Chair, I'm wondering if you are going

to give a time cap as to when we have to have this extra meeting.
You're saying it will possibly be next week, but what if that doesn't
happen?
● (1155)

The Chair: I'm just saying that we will ask the clerk to arrange a
time for the meeting that is suitable for all of us. I don't know what
the schedule is like next week, but we will have a separate meeting
for that.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: I just wonder if we could make sure
there's a time limit so that we don't wait a month.

The Chair: We're not going to wait a month. The whole business
of unanimous consent is a matter of achieving some consensus. We
understand that it's an important matter that we need to deal with.
We will deal with it in a proactive way. We just don't want to deal
with it now. We want to get back to our witnesses.

We don't have a specific date or time—
Mr. Matt Jeneroux: We put our trust in you, Mr. Chair, to find it

sooner than later.
The Chair: Very well. I appreciate that.

That being said, let's find out if we are in agreement.

I'm asking for unanimous consent to deal with these matters in a
separate meeting called for that purpose, to be arranged with the
chair and the clerk at a suitable time in the near future.

Are we in unanimous agreement on that?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: Thank you. We have unanimous consent, and the
motions are deemed withdrawn.

We will schedule a meeting for the purposes of dealing with Mr.
Jeneroux's motion as originally moved today, as well as the other
motions he had wished to move today, and we will carry on with
our questioning. Thank you very much, everybody, for your co-op‐
eration.

With that, we will return to our questioning.

Mr. Jeneroux, your time is up—
Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Mr. Chair, I do believe I have some time,

because the time stops when you call a motion, as you well know,
but in the interest of the committee's time and wanting to make sure
we give the NDP and the Bloc opportunities to ask questions as
well, I will cede the rest of my time back to the chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux. You are correct.

We will go now to Mr. Fisher. Please go ahead. You have six
minutes.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank the witnesses for being here. I also want to thank
Mr. Jeneroux. This is part of the process of committee, and he has
every right to move those motions, and we could sit here and talk
about those motions and hash them out for the full couple hours of
the meeting.

So thank you, MP Jeneroux, for agreeing that we could seek
some type of discussion at a later date.

Dr. Siddiqi, first of all, I just want to say that both of you gave so
much wonderful testimony that is so valuable. One of the MPs, I
think Mr. Van Bynen, commented about the importance of having
this testimony in our report. This is our last meeting to get your tes‐
timony into this report, so that makes it so important that we get
this testimony. If I ask you a question that you feel you've already
sort of touched on, feel free to broaden those comments if you
wish, because you gave so much stuff and I was trying to scribble
things down and it just wasn't possible.

I'll start with you on this question, Dr. Siddiqi. The pandemic, we
agree, has disproportionately affected vulnerable communities.
How can we do better going forward to address this disproportion‐
ate effect?

● (1200)

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Thanks very much for the question. I'm
happy to expand.

I think the way to do better is to understand what caused their
vulnerability in the first place. There are two approaches that we
could generally think about. One is to mitigate the harm done to
vulnerable people, but the first is to ask why people are vulnerable
in the first place. What makes us sort people into being vulnerable
and not? What we've learned from the literature is that this issue of
someone's social and economic position, in particular their race and
their social class, creates an inherent vulnerability. Without address‐
ing the fact that life, material conditions, stress, opportunity and so
on are fundamentally sorted by race and class, we can't possibly
hope to do anything about what the eventual outcomes of that vul‐
nerability are, which are things like COVID-19 inequities, cardio‐
vascular inequities, hypertension inequities, educational inequities,
employment inequities and so on.

I think what we can do is take a good, long, hard look at how we
structure opportunity in our society and say to ourselves, “We want
a society in which the policies and the institutions create opportuni‐
ty for everybody.” I think, as one of the members eloquently said
earlier, it's the distinction between equality and equity in the sense
that you want to make sure—knowing that we don't have an equi‐
table society and that it's unfair to some—that we start to look at
key policies that would get us to equity and would not just unfold
opportunities as if they could be equally taken up.
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A great example is that of post-secondary education. You could
make an argument that anyone can apply and that this creates some
equality. We don't stop anybody from applying. If you make the
grades and so on, you can get into school. But that's not actually
how it works, because you have to be able to pay for school. You
have to have teachers who support you in feeling as though you can
make it to that point. You have to have an environment around you
that doesn't cause you so much stress that you can't focus on your
studies and so on. The same is true for COVID. Yes, we could all
shelter ourselves, social distance and technically avoid COVID, but
that's not actually how things work. Some of us are more exposed
than others are by virtue of our vulnerable position.

I think what I'm suggesting is that, as counterintuitive as it may
seem, looking at the fundamental injustices of making some people
vulnerable in our society is really the way to tackle the outgrowth
of that.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Dr. McKenzie, you listed many recommen‐
dations. Again, I was scribbling as fast as I could, but would you
care to comment on this before my time runs out?

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: Sure, and thanks very much for the
question.

I completely agree with Dr. Siddiqi that we need to go funda‐
mentally towards equality and equity, and that there are these fun‐
damental causes that are driving disparities.

The problem is that a lot of the things you are going to do to try
to deal with those fundamental causes are not going to happen dur‐
ing this pandemic in the first wave, second wave or recovery. The
question is what can we actually do now and what can we actually
do that can practically help this group move towards a more equi‐
table response?

I do believe that we will find, if we have the data, that different
jurisdictions have had different levels of success in producing equi‐
table responses. I'm completely sure of that. We know that different
jurisdictions have had completely different rates of COVID. If you
look at B.C. and compare it to Quebec and Ontario, these are very
different outcomes. In fact, if both Quebec and Ontario had the
same quality of response that B.C. did, there would have been
about 2,000 lives saved in Ontario, and there would have probably
been about 4,000 lives saved in Quebec.

There are big differences in the ways we've gone about things. If
we could even get to the point of equalizing how well the different
provinces have dealt with COVID, we would move towards better
outcomes for all.

This idea of legislation is to try to promote equity through legis‐
lation, to make sure that provinces actually think about equity when
they're thinking about their pandemic plans. At the moment, many
don't, and that's why we see some of the disparities. Not all of the
disparities would be dealt with by thinking about equity in the pan‐
demic plans, but certainly, because, as Dr. Siddiqi said, there are
fundamental causes of these disparities, we could make our re‐
sponse better and more equitable and we could certainly save lives
by using a health equity lens.

Then going forward, when we're looking at the recovery, we
need to use the opportunity of the recovery to try to decrease some

of the fundamental drivers of inequities. I think there are things we
can do now, directly in our pandemic plans, and then also in our re‐
covery plan, that will actually make us more equitable and will save
lives.

I also think that not having the data is criminal. It's 2020, right?

● (1205)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fisher.

[Translation]

The floor now goes to Mr. Desilets for six minutes.

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My thanks to our two guests for their presentations.

Their comments are very interesting and somewhat different
from the comments of witnesses we have heard from in the past.

My first question is for Mr. McKenzie.

I really liked the parallel you drew with the Titanic. For me, the
image was vivid and very real.

You started your remarks by saying that Canada's response had
been positive. How was it so positive, in your opinion?

As I listened to the rest of your statement, my impression is that
we have completely missed the boat in terms of the black popula‐
tion.

[English]

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: Thank you, Mr. Desilets.

I would bring you back to some numbers.

If you look at the death rate per 100,000, in Canada it's been
about 23 per 100,000. If you look at somewhere like the United
Kingdom, it's been 50 per 100,000. In fact, Canada's rate is pretty
good compared to that of many high-income countries, so we've
done reasonably well.

Obviously if we compare ourselves to Germany, which has a rate
of 11 per 100,000, we haven't done as well as Germany. In fact, if
we had had a response that was as good as Germany, one analysis
has shown we'd have saved 4,528 lives.

We're in the middle of the pack compared to lots of others. We've
done very well; it could have gotten a lot worse.

The problem is that, inside that good response, it's worked better
for some people than for other people, so my comments are that we
have done well but if we had done equally well for everybody, we'd
have all been better off and the death rate would have been signifi‐
cantly lower, and the morbidity would have been significantly low‐
er. We would have been in a better place in order to rebound into
recovery.
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[Translation]
Mr. Luc Desilets: Mr. McKenzie, do we have comparative data

for other countries that are part of the G20 and that have about the
same black-white population ratio? You mentioned the death rate of
23 per 100,000.

If you analyze the results in a little more detail, are there compa‐
rable countries?

How do we in Canada measure up?
[English]

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: I think that's a really interesting and im‐
portant question. It is very difficult to make comparisons between
countries. Also, most of the excess deaths, which are linked to eth‐
nic group, are not linked to biology. They are linked to people's so‐
cial situations, and people's social situations are linked to policy
choices. Yes, we could say, “Oh no, we can only compare ourselves
with populations that have similar ethnic groups”, but to a certain
extent, that makes it sound as if race is the determinant. But race
isn't the determinant; social policy and racism are the determinant.

Of course if we look at somewhere like Germany, it has a signifi‐
cant migrant population and significant ethnic diversity, including a
very large Turkish population, but it has still managed to have a
better response than we have.
● (1210)

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you very much. That answers my ques‐

tion.

The fourth point you brought up dealt with the importance of ob‐
taining Canada-wide results, so that provinces can be compared
with each other and with the national level. A number of speakers
have expressed that need and the gap we have. There have been re‐
quests for information to be communicated and for collaboration so
that we would not have to wait for a year, say, to be able to compile
the information and draw conclusions. Some countries have been
much quicker than we have. They have been much more advanced
and have established systems to centralize that data.

In Canada, in your opinion, whose responsibility is it to ensure
this cohesion among organizations, among the provinces, and be‐
tween the provinces and the federal level? Who should manage it? I
feel that we are just passing the buck.
[English]

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: I do think there are significant difficul‐
ties with regard to data collection that are produced by the federal/
provincial and territorial split. But I do think that the federal gov‐
ernment itself can make sure it gets its own data house in order.

It is surprising that we have a census and that in our census we
do not collect from everybody information on socio-demographic,
race and ethnicity. We collect it from only 20% of people, on the
long-form census, rather than from 100% of people, including on
the short-form census. If we were able to change the short-form
census so as to get a full picture of Canada, we would be able, pos‐
sibly, to link that census data to other data in order to get a good
picture of our pandemics, a better picture of our pandemics. It is

possible to do these things but at a federal level, and it is also possi‐
ble for the feds to insist that the provinces produce data.

At the moment, the feds pay a lot to the provinces. Maybe the
feds should be thinking about what data the provinces produce in
order to demonstrate that their responses are actually equitable.
Very few people would give money to a company or a service with‐
out being very clear about what they're getting in return. At the mo‐
ment, sometimes federal transfers are not transparently linked to
productivity, especially not to productivity based on equity.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desilets.

I'd like to advise the committee that we have set up a time for our
next meeting, to be three o'clock Eastern time next Monday, at
which time we can deal with Mr. Jeneroux's motion. We will also
move the drafting instructions from today to following that meet‐
ing. We are still tight on time today but we will do our best to get
both panels in and both rounds, so thank you all.

Mr. Davies, please go ahead. You have six minutes.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Dr. Siddiqi and Dr. McKenzie, for sharing your ex‐
pertise with us today. I think both of you have laid out a very clear
and powerful case for why the federal government needs to collect
comprehensive national data on social, economic and other factors.

Dr. Siddiqi, you recently wrote that the Canadian government
has been reluctant to routinely collect race and ethnicity data, and
that the consequence is a lack of accountability, according to your
writing, in addressing racial disparities in all sectors of society.

In your view, why has the federal government been reluctant to
collect race and ethnicity data with respect to COVID-19 and in
general?

● (1215)

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: I can tell you what we often hear as the
primary reason, and then I can speculate about what might be going
on.
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We're often told that the reason for withholding this data, for not
making it publicly accessible, not collecting it more widely, etc. is
really to protect the privacy of Canadians, since there may be some
issues particularly with a general release of the data that would
compromise the safety and privacy of Canadians were those data
able to identify particular Canadians. We have very little reason to
believe that is enough of a concern to suppress really valuable in‐
formation. Is it somehow, through de-identified data, still possible
to identify particular Canadians? It almost never is. Maybe there is
a slight outside possibility, the way there is with census data for
that matter, but not enough for me to believe it's actually a legiti‐
mate reason for not collecting this data and not allowing it to be
freely, publicly accessible to be analyzed by people like me, Dr.
McKenzie and others in order to inform our country about what's
happening to us.

That brings me to what I think might be going on. It's unfortu‐
nate, but I do think that when we don't collect data, that's at least
one way in which we can ignore the evidence. We can equate our
own opinions with a claim that those opinions are facts, because the
facts simply aren't available to us.

My sense is, as you've pointed out and I've pointed out before,
that with data and the ability for independent scientists to analyze
that data comes a groundswell of evidence that in one way forces us
to at least admit to the facts, to at least have to contend with and
confront and recognize the fact that there are empirical evidence
sources being put before us, rather than having a situation in which
anyone can say virtually anything and we don't really have a good
way to contend with or refute what people are saying.

I think that part of the hesitation may be that this actually creates
some serious empirical demonstrations of what's happening in our
society and that then, as Dr. McKenzie said, that's not the end; it's
just the beginning, and that will make us have to move forward
with action.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

Dr. McKenzie, I want to focus on mental health for a moment.

A June 29 article from Global News noted that before moving to
Toronto you ran a mental health service in north London, U.K.
When someone with psychosis or another serious form of mental
illness was in crisis, your team of medical professionals showed up
first rather than the police. You noted in that article that this was
possible because the U.K. funds mental health care in ways that
Canada does not.

Could you please provide the committee with further detail on
the effectiveness of this program, and maybe outline the key differ‐
ences between the U.K.'s and Canada's approaches to funding men‐
tal health care?

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: Thank you very much for the question. I
didn't know quite where it was going; I thought you were going to
be talking about the echo epidemic of mental health that was going
to come through COVID.

The situation that we find in Canada in general is that about 7%
of health care spending is spent on mental health. In the U.K., it's
between 9% and 11%, depending on where you are. A lot more
money is spent on mental health in the U.K.

Mental health, obviously, as you know, is about people. There's
not amazing surgery to be done and all of those other things. There
aren't loads of equipment. It's about people. If you're not spending
the money, you don't have the people, and if you don't have the
people, you don't have the service.

The difference I've seen in Canada compared to the U.K. is that
there is not a comprehensive enough mental health service, and
there's not a comprehensive community mental health service. Be‐
cause of that, there are more crises. There are many more mental
health crises and, as you know, these can end up tragically.

The actual breadth and depth of mental health services in Canada
are not sufficient, I believe, to meet the needs of the population. If
we are to get an echo epidemic of mental health problems due to
COVID, I believe we are going to have real problems unless we
significantly start investing in building capacity to deal with the
mental health impacts in the community and elsewhere.

● (1220)

Mr. Don Davies: You spoke of the legislative—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies.

That ends round one. We'll start round two with Mr. Webber.

Mr. Webber, please go ahead. You have five minutes.

Mr. Len Webber: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank you to our
two doctors who are here today for their testimony. It is incredibly
interesting, for sure.

Mr. Chair, I certainly hate going behind Mr. Davies in question‐
ing, because once again he has brought up some points that I want‐
ed to bring up.

It's about that same article, Dr. McKenzie, that article in Global
News regarding your experience in the U.K., in north London. It
was about the team of the medical professionals who showed up
first—not the police—when there was a mental health crisis in the
community. You talked a bit about it. Can you explain to us how
this came about, how it worked and how you dealt with violent or
armed non-cooperative people?

I know that this wasn't a part of your testimony today, but I think
it is very relevant in the mental health side of it. Can you elaborate
a little more on how you began this?



July 7, 2020 HESA-32 13

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: One of the things we found, and one of
the things that we've always thought, is that if you can intervene
early, you decrease the need for crisis intervention, so our team was
very straightforward. It was community based. For every person
who we saw, they and their family were given a telephone number
that they could call any time, and we would go to see them. Yes, we
did all the crisis calls. Yes, they called us first, rather than the po‐
lice, and, yes, we went out to see them. Over the three to four years
I was there, none of our staff were injured and none of our clients
were injured. That didn't happen.

Some of that is because we are experts in de-escalation, and we
are experts in dealing with mental health crises, and some of it is
because people knew who we were, and that makes a difference.
But a lot of it was because we saw people earlier in their diseases
and earlier in their problems. Rather than waiting until things got so
acute that people were ringing the police, families were ringing us
early and we were going to see people, and we were decreasing the
problem.

Community mental health services properly deployed are very
important and they work. Yes, we did have problems when people
were very disturbed, and we needed to have the police as backup,
though we led the response. The police would be in the car outside,
and if we needed them, we called them in. We had them there, but
we never had anybody put in handcuffs and taken away. Part of the
reason for this is that it is traumatic, and even if it's done and the
person doesn't get hurt, you then have to deal with the trauma.

That's what we did. It worked well. It expanded across London.
It's the way things were done at that time.
● (1225)

Mr. Len Webber: I think that is brilliant, Dr. McKenzie. I think
that we should certainly be looking at implementing something like
that here across our country as well. Thank you for sharing that.

I have a quick question for Dr. Siddiqi.

Again, thank you for your presentation and for sharing your ex‐
perience on your studies of relationships between race and health
outcomes. In an article in The Globe and Mail on June 1, you said
that the United States was “night and day” different from Canada in
race-based data collection. Can you better explain those differ‐
ences, Dr. Siddiqi?

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: I have a lot of experience with the U.S.
because I trained there and lived there for a long time. I still do a lot
of research there. That's the foundation of my comments.

In the United States, they have routinized the collection of data
on race the way we have routinized it on age and gender. In the
United States, you answer a question about your race nearly every
time you would answer any questions about your demographics or
where you live. That means you answer it when you access the
health care system or the education system, when you apply for a
job and when you actually get a job and your address and informa‐
tion are collected. Then the United States makes that information,
that data, publicly accessible. You and I could, right now, go to the
Internet and access datasets that are either administrative, meaning
they're the collection of this routine data, or they are government
surveys the way we have the Canadian community health survey

and so on. We could just go to the Internet, download that data with
really good documentation about how to use it, and create analyses
right now of what racial inequalities and socio-economic inequali‐
ties look like.

To give you another example, we're conducting some work on
inequalities in birth outcomes in the U.S. We can do that because
birth certificates have information on race and we can do it because
that information is downloadable off the Internet with ease. I don't
have to apply to request the data, go into a StatsCan data centre to
analyze it between nine and five, get certified to do that, tell them
exactly what I'm going to ask and then—

The Chair: Dr. Siddiqi, could you wrap up, please?

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Sure.

In Canada what happens is that there are all of these barriers,
first, to collecting the data and therefore having data, and second, to
accessing the data that we already have.

Mr. Len Webber: Interesting. Thank you very much.

The Chair: We will go now to Mr. Van Bynen.

Please, go ahead. You have five minutes.

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank both of our witnesses for the very powerful infor‐
mation they've given us. I was particularly interested in the recogni‐
tion that intergenerational wealth transfer was a root cause of sys‐
temic racism, so I thank you for that.

My first question is for Dr. Siddiqi. It's my understanding that the
Dalla Lana School of Public Health has a self-directed, student-led
organization called the Infectious Disease Working Group that has
created a community resource navigation tool. I'm hoping you can
share with the committee a little more about the tool. What does the
group hope to achieve with it, how was it developed and what has
the group discovered from the information it's obtained in the de‐
velopment of the tool?

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Yes, I'm very proud to say that the tool
has been developed by a couple of our doctoral students. Taking the
lead were Isha Berry and Jean-Paul Soucy. As well, David Fisman,
Ashleigh Tuite and others of our faculty have been integrally in‐
volved in developing that tool.
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Essentially, the backdrop of that tool was to make up for the fact
that there was not routinely available data on COVID, and we were
in a crisis in which we desperately wanted information and needed
desperately to get information out to the public. With the ingenuity
of this team and their colleagues, they took the media reports that
were coming down the pike of who was dying from COVID, what
their characteristics were and where they lived, and they essentially
assembled their own database. You can imagine that it is painstak‐
ing work to put together a database that's not in any way automated
but really requires the blood, sweat and tears of people extracting
information from wherever they can find it.

In terms of what they found, there was a variety of things, really,
that came from that data. They were able to tell us how the pan‐
demic was proceeding, where we were seeing hot spots and
whether things were getting better or worse as days went on. What
they weren't able to tell us is something about the inequities in
terms of socio-demographics, so they tried to collect information on
things like occupation and so on, when it was available from a me‐
dia report. Because they weren't relying on a source that has a stan‐
dard information collection set-up, they really were at the mercy of
whatever they could find. Usually, that involved where people
lived, what age they were and, of course, their COVID-19 out‐
comes.

This was really able to tell us a lot, but what's sort of remarkable
is the fact that they did this in such short order and with their own
ingenuity and initiative, but also that they had to do this because we
didn't have a government system of routine data collection that was
publicly accessible.
● (1230)

Mr. Tony Van Bynen: Thank you. Would the outcome of that
information be made available to this committee?

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Yes, sure.
Mr. Tony Van Bynen: That's great. Thank you.

My next question is for you, Dr. McKenzie. First of all, I really
found enlightening your comment that it is important for us to un‐
derstand what's “under the curve” as opposed to bending the curve,
and a lot of that reflects some of the social disparities that we've
heard about. What changes would you like to see in the minimum
wage, income supplements and social assistance and supports to
start putting some equity into the system?

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: As you know, I was the research and
evaluation chair for the Ontario basic income study. I like the idea
of a basic income. I like the outcomes of a basic income. I like the
fact that it does improve equity, and I like the fact that there are
health and mental health outcomes as well as dignity. Dignity and
social inclusion are very important.

When thinking about these things, I also like the idea of us trying
to think of how.... When we're thinking of income supports, we tend
to think about a level of money that we're giving people, but we
never link that necessarily to the level that's needed for health.
When we're thinking about how much EI people get and how much
CERB people get, I'm very interested in whether that package actu‐
ally allows people to be healthy, because that will help to decrease
disparities.

I also think that the accessibility of the packages like the CERB
and others is important. I have noticed a number of studies coming
forward now and showing, for instance, that in the black population
about 40% have lost income or their jobs over the pandemic, but a
lower proportion of the black community than others have come
forward for social assistance and have the CERB. I think there are
equity problems in the accessibility of things like the CERB. Some
of it is due to people not knowing their rights and some of it is due
to the digital divide between people, but it's definitely there.

The big things, I would say, are the following: When when we're
thinking about social assistance, can we link it to health and work
out what people need to be healthy? Can we think of how we make
sure it reaches the right populations and that they actually get it?

There are other things that I would suggest.

The Chair: Thank you.

Dr. Kitchen, please go ahead for five minutes.

Mr. Robert Kitchen (Souris—Moose Mountain, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair, and thank you, Dr. Siddiqi and Dr. McKenzie for
your presentations.

I greatly appreciate hearing that from you. A lot of what you
talked about is that data is lacking, and the fact that we need to
have ongoing data. We've heard that throughout this committee.
There is a big challenge in collecting and disseminating data,
whether it's because of provincial barriers, federal barriers, etc.

You did talk about social inequality when you touched on the is‐
sue of income, you talked about housing and you talked about race,
etc. I've noticed, in doing a little bit of research on you beforehand,
that both of you have mentioned issues of persons with disabilities.

I'm wondering if you both could comment on that in this particu‐
lar demographic. I'll start with Dr. McKenzie, and then Dr. Siddiqi
you might be able to throw in some input on how this is having a
big impact on dealing with that. You talked about how we need to
hit the hardest hit group.

● (1235)

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: I think it's really important to be think‐
ing about disability.

I think I've mentioned before the analysis of comparing Germany
to Canada. The big difference between Germany and Canada with
regards to lives lost has been that 80% of people who've lost their
lives in Canada are from long-term care, and only 34% of people
who lost their lives in Germany are from long-term care. They sort‐
ed out long-term care and that made a difference.
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In the end of this wave, and in the next wave, I believe it's going
to be vulnerable populations such as people in congregate living sit‐
uations, people with disabilities, who are going to be the next fron‐
tier for producing a quality and equitable response along with the
racialized populations.

I think focusing on their needs, sitting down and working out
what they need to be able to protect themselves is going to be im‐
portant. As I said before, I agree with Dr. Siddiqi about the funda‐
mental causes. I also think that we need to sit down and say to peo‐
ple with disabilities, “What do you need in order to be able to use
the tools we've got? We have the tools of testing, physical distanc‐
ing and tracing. How can you do this? What stops you from doing
this?”

If we could start working those things out and finding innovative
interventions, we might be able to protect a whole bunch of people
in those groups because that's what happened in long-term care in
different countries. Those countries had really good policies on pre‐
vention of infection in long-term care and they launched them at
the same time as their lockdown, they protected their elderly—we
didn't do that.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Dr. Siddiqi.

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: I'll just add one which is from a data
perspective.

I think, as Dr. McKenzie said, it would be important to under‐
stand what people with disabilities face and to engage with them
about their needs.

It's also important to understand how this is an axis of vulnerabil‐
ity at the population level, and what the kinds of patterns are of
things people are facing.

I'll just add that in relation to the earlier question about the infec‐
tious disease working group, there is a group.... I misspoke because
there are two groups at our school. One group led by Kahiye
Warsame, Yulika Yoshida-Montezuma, and others is looking into
socio-economic issues and they may also be able to look at disabili‐
ty.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Thank you.

The precautionary principle is the idea that there is “a social re‐
sponsibility to protect the public from exposure to harm, especially
when scientific investigation has found a plausible risk.” This
means starting with the highest level of protections for society and
whittling that down as new information about the risk posed, or
lack thereof, comes forward.

Both of you indicated that certain demographics in communities
within Canada face greater risk with respect to COVID-19, yet the
Public Health Agency of Canada chose not to utilize the precau‐
tionary principle in dealing with the virus.

Do you feel that if we'd used the precautionary principle, we
could have helped to quell the spread of COVID-19 amongst some
specific demographics in Canada?

● (1240)

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: For me, that's the simplest question I've
had all day. Yes, most definitely, Dr. Kitchen; I completely agree
with you.

Mr. Robert Kitchen: Thank you.

Dr. Siddiqi?

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Kitchen.

Please give a very quick response, Dr. Siddiqi.

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: [Technical difficulty—Editor] in some
ways, yes, but in some ways, the fundamental issue is the increased
risk for exposure, for being out there. That's an issue as well.

The Chair: Thank you.

We go now to Dr. Jaczek.

Please go ahead. You have five minutes.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you very much, Chair.

As a public health practitioner for so many years, it's been so re‐
freshing for me to hear the emphasis from both of you on the social
determinants of health. This is vital, and you've brought it to the
fore. Both of you have dug so much deeper within what were origi‐
nally considered the social determinants of health, digging into the
data to certainly analyze much further, with Dr. Siddiqi emphasiz‐
ing racialized problems in that community in terms of susceptibility
and so on.

My first question is for you, Dr. McKenzie. It's great to see you
again, if only virtually. I'm wondering if you could tell us a little bit
more about the basic income pilot in Ontario. I note that the Welles‐
ley Institute on May 6 conducted a survey with a number of stake‐
holders to look at vulnerable people in particular. One of the most
common responses to that survey, in terms of the recovery from
COVID-19, was potentially the need for a universal basic income.

For the benefit of the committee, could you tell us a little bit
more about your role on the basic income pilot in Ontario, which of
course was terminated after only one year, and whether there were
some learnings in that one-year time period that were collated and
that we could think about going forward?

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: I was lucky to be part of the basic in‐
come pilot project as the research and evaluation advisory group
chair. I advised directly the running of the basic income pilot and
the link between the basic income pilot and the third party evalua‐
tors, who were a consortium of academics. In some ways, as you
probably remember, I was a translator between the academic lan‐
guage and the bureaucratic language in order to make it work.
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The basic income project had two different bits. It had a random‐
ized control trial in two areas, Hamilton and also in Thunder Bay in
the north of Ontario, where people were randomized through either
the basic income or not the basic income. It then had a saturation
study in a different place, Lindsay, with 22,000 people in a predom‐
inantly farming area to see whether there would be a change in the
economy in that area if all low-income people were offered the ba‐
sic income. The basic income or essentially the amount of money
you got was based on a tax rebate, which worked very well.

We learned loads of things. One, you can do it. Two, people love
it. They find it a much more dignified way of getting their social
assistance. Three, entrepreneurs take risks and build businesses if
they have backing and they know they have at least a basic income.
Four, people change their lives and go back to college. They get in‐
to better housing and give themselves a fundamental chance in or‐
der to move forward if they have a basic income. People move
themselves out of poverty if they have a basic income.

It was a travesty, in my mind, that it was stopped. You can't start
a research project, say to people that they have three years in order
to revolutionize their lives and then take the money away. It's bad
for their health. It's bad, obviously, for the country not to have that
information. It made us look bad on the world stage, because peo‐
ple all over the world were looking for these results. When there
were follow-ups of some of those people, such as in Hamilton, peo‐
ple who'd gotten even one year of basic income had done better
than people who hadn't.

For people, I think it's about time that.... There are rights and re‐
sponsibilities from being a citizen. Maybe there has to be a deal
with the citizens that they have rights, and those rights are for a ba‐
sic level of income that befits a high-income country.
● (1245)

The Chair: Thank you, Dr. Jaczek.
[Translation]

Mr. Desilets, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon, Ms. Siddiqi.
[English]

The Chair: Pardon me, Mr. Desilets. Your microphone seems to
have been disconnected.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: My apologies, Mr. Chair.

Ms. Siddiqi, you quite rightly alluded to the wealth inequities
and gaps between black people and white people, and to a kind of
baby bond that might exist elsewhere. Can you quickly tell us what
that is?
[English]

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Yes. Thank you very much.

As I mentioned, one of the most unfortunate aspects of inequity
is that it starts at birth before anyone has a chance to do anything,
and that is a result of prior generations having more socio-econom‐
ic resources among whites and fewer among blacks. In the United

States, the disparity in family wealth is tenfold, so if a median
white family has $170,000 in wealth, a median black family has
more in the order of $17,000.

In order to combat that, they have talked a lot about strategies
that would reduce wealth inequality. One of those strategies is what
they refer to as “baby bonds”. The idea is that you provide children,
when they are born, with a sum of cash that is actually something
that can mature over time, so it's not intended as cash to be spent
right away. There are many needs that do need immediate attention,
but this particular proposal is the idea that you provide a sum that
can mature over time and that in adulthood can be used to buy the
kinds of things that rich families buy for their kids when they be‐
come adults. They often pay for education. They often provide
them with down payments for homes. This kind of a baby bond
would function in that same way. There are economists who have
made estimates that suggest that a proposal like this may be able to
close the wealth gap in a couple of generations if it were big
enough and done well enough.

● (1250)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desilets.

We go now to Mr. Davies for two and a half minutes.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

Both of you have commented on the profound and corrosive im‐
pact of entrenched racial wealth inequality and structural racism.
I'm curious what the trend is. Is it staying flat? Are we getting bet‐
ter? Is it getting worse?

Second, in my limited time, I'd like to ask each of you this: If
you were Prime Minister, Dr. Siddiqi, and if you were Minister of
Finance, Dr. McKenzie, what would be your top two priorities for
the federal government to start addressing this?

Dr. Kwame McKenzie: We start with the Prime Minister, don't
we?

Voices: Oh, oh!

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Thanks very much, both of you.

In terms of wealth inequity, it's very difficult to say, because we
don't have good data. In the U.S., I could answer that question for
you. In Canada, it's very difficult to say.

Generally speaking, on economic inequity, I can tell you, for ex‐
ample, that income inequality is rising. It's getting worse, and we
think that for wealth inequality, only more so.... In fact, we have
some evidence that it's the case. The racial divide is very difficult to
calculate, because we don't have a lot of data.
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If I were to suggest the top two things that we could do in our
society, the first would be that we do something to close this wealth
gap and to figure out ways in which families can have the economic
security and the economic means to generate education, income,
etc. To me, wealth inequality would be paramount. The second
would be a tie between income inequality and the universalization
of many of the services and the programs that we know help, such
as access to education, including post-secondary education, and ac‐
cess at the other end to early childhood education and child care
and so on.

Let me just say one thing about the basic—
Mr. Don Davies: Dr. Siddiqi, I'm sorry. I want Dr. McKenzie to

have a crack at his two priorities.

Dr. Arjumand Siddiqi: Sure. I'm sorry.
Dr. Kwame McKenzie: To start off with, it's just to say if you

look from the first generation to the second generation to the third
generation, the rate of poverty for the black population of Canada
increases. It's the only part of Canada where the poverty rate in‐
creases from people who are immigrants to their grandchildren, and
that is a problem.

I believe that there are a lot of things we can do, but one of the
things we have to do is that we have to raise the floor. One of the
reasons why I was interested in social assistance and the basic in‐
come and other things like that is to raise the floor so that the gaps
between rich and poor are decreased, and that will help racialized
populations significantly.

I also think that we probably do need to start looking to a sort of
more enforceable legislation, a sort of legislation with more teeth,
that starts looking at racial equity. If you look in the Toronto area,
the truth is, from studies from the United Way, that the racialized
population has not had a pay increase in real terms in the last 30
years, and the gaps between them and other groups have increased
over that time.

The Chair: Doctor, could you wrap up, please?
Dr. Kwame McKenzie: Oh, yes. It's good to say that. I could

have gone on forever.

The gaps increased over that time, so we have to decide what we
need to put in place to stop that from happening.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies, and thanks to all of you.

In particular, thank you to the witnesses, who have given us such
great information. Thank you for sharing your time with us today.

With that, we will suspend and bring in a second panel. Thank
you very much.
● (1255)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1300)

The Chair: The meeting is now resumed.

Welcome back to meeting number 32 of the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Health. We're operating pursuant to the or‐
der of reference of March 26, 2020. The committee is resuming its

briefing on the Canadian response to the outbreak of the coron‐
avirus.

I would like to make a few comments for the benefit of the new
witnesses. Before speaking, please wait until recognized. When you
are ready to speak you can click on the microphone icon to activate
your mike. I remind you that all comments should be addressed
through the chair. Interpretation in this video conference will work
very much like in a regular committee meeting. You have the
choice at the bottom of your screen of either floor, English or
French. If you plan to alternate from one language to the other, you
will need to switch the interpretation channel so that it aligns with
the language you are speaking. You may want to allow for a very
short pause when switching languages. When you are not speaking,
your mike should be on mute.

I would like to welcome our witnesses.

We have, from the Canadian Institute for Health Information, CI‐
HI, Ms. Kathleen Morris, vice-president, research and analysis, and
Ms. Mélanie Josée Davidson, director, health system performance.
From the Department of Public Safety and Emergency Prepared‐
ness, we have Ms. Colleen Merchant, director general of national
cybersecurity, national and cybersecurity branch. We have Mr.
Scott Jones from CSE, head of the Canadian Centre for Cyber Se‐
curity. We have Chief Superintendent Mark Flynn from the RCMP,
director general of financial crime and cybercrime, federal policing
criminal operations. From Statistics Canada, we have Ms. Karen
Mihorean, director general, social data insights, integration and in‐
novation; Mr. Marc Lachance, acting director general, diversity and
populations; and Mr. Jeff Latimer, director general and strategic ad‐
viser for health data.

Thank you all for being here. We will start with our statements
from witnesses. We will start with the Canadian Institute for Health
Information.

Please go ahead. You have 10 minutes.

● (1305)

Ms. Kathleen Morris (Vice-President, Research and Analysis,
Canadian Institute for Health Information): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

On behalf of the Canadian Institute for Health Information, thank
you for the opportunity to appear before the standing committee.

I am speaking to you today from the traditional territory of the
Wendat, the Anishinabek first nation, the Haudenosaunee Confed‐
eracy and the Mississaugas of the New Credit. I recognize that this
land is now the home of many first nations, Inuit and Métis people.

Since 1994, CIHI, as we're usually called, has been a leader in
health data and information. CIHI is a not-for-profit independent
body funded by the federal government and all provinces and terri‐
tories. Our board of directors is made up of deputy ministers of
health and other health system leaders, representing all regions of
the country. CIHI has signed data-sharing agreements with every
province and territory and several federal organizations.
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Pan-Canadian health data is a shared responsibility between us
and our partners at Statistics Canada, Health Canada and the Public
Health Agency. Each organization has a defined role within the
health ecosystem, with CIHI's focus on health care systems and
their functioning.

For example, CIHI oversees data on hospitals and long-term
care, health spending and workforce, and information on health
system performance. Data is provided to us voluntarily by the
provinces and territories. This allows the data to be aggregated and
compared and for health systems to learn from each other. We also
work closely with organizations that are international, such as the
OECD and the Commonwealth Fund, which enables us to learn
from other countries.

CIHI makes the data and information available to policy-makers,
health system leaders, researchers and the public. Although we play
an integral role in providing relevant and reliable data and analysis
to policy-makers, we are neutral and objective in fulfilling our
mandate. We neither create policy nor take positions on it. Ulti‐
mately, we work to help improve the health care system and the
health of Canadians. Maintaining public trust is critical to our suc‐
cess. We're committed to protecting the privacy of Canadians and
ensuring the security of their personal health information.

During COVID-19, CIHI's work has focused on three main pri‐
orities: first, maintaining the current data supply and looking for
opportunities to improve; second, developing analytical products or
services that assist with the COVID response; and third, to provide
data and information quickly to those who need it.

Let me share one or two examples in each of those three priority
areas.

In terms of maintaining and enhancing the data supply, we work
closely with our data suppliers to mitigate disruptions to the data.
We are pleased to report that hospitals and the majority of long-
term care homes were able to complete data collection for the
2019-20 fiscal year within the normal deadlines. We also shared
new standards to capture confirmed and suspected COVID cases in
care facilities. This information will be critical as we look back at
how our hospitals responded to the pandemic. We also created
guidelines for race-based data collection in health in an effort to fa‐
cilitate the collection of high-quality data, which I know was a fo‐
cus of your earlier discussions.

The second goal is around providing analysis to support deci‐
sion-making. During the early phases of the pandemic, we received
many requests from those who were trying to project the need for
hospital beds, for staff and for supplies such as ventilators and per‐
sonal protective equipment. In response, we developed a tool to
help those who are modelling to be able to deliver results at a local
level. We also provided advice and facilitated the exchange of in‐
formation among modelling teams working in different parts of the
country. Most recently, we released a report that looked at Canada's
pandemic experience in long-term care compared to that of other
countries. The report found that early adoption of strict public
health measures in long-term care was associated with fewer cases
of COVID-19 and lower death rates.

Finally, our third initiative was around responding to requests. In
addition, over the past few months CIHI has responded to more
than 500 requests for information and data. The topics of these re‐
quests have changed over the weeks. Initially, they were very fo‐
cused on describing the situation: how many cases, how many pa‐
tients and how many hospitalizations. As time went on, we had
more questions around long-term care. Most recently, the questions
have focused on the reopening of the health system and ensuring
that's done safely, and on the potential consequences of the shut‐
down on issues such as mental health, substance use and planned
surgeries.

● (1310)

As we navigated the pandemic, working closely with our federal
partners, it became apparent that there were several gaps in impor‐
tant data flows within and among health care systems in Canada.
COVID-19 has highlighted some of these gaps, and we see them
falling into one or more of three categories.

The first is gaps in data availability. These are real gaps. The data
simply doesn't exist, as the panellists in the first half of this session
may have highlighted. The gaps here could include information on
supplies and equipment available in the system, or they could be
gaps around the characteristics of long-term care homes, such as
the number of patients to a room, the ownership models and the
staffing ratios. We also saw significant gaps when we tried to ex‐
amine some parts of the health workforce, such as the number of
personal support workers and where they worked.

The second gap involves data that exists but that can't be ac‐
cessed quickly enough to support decision-making. For example,
we needed more timely hospital and emergency room data. This da‐
ta is collected from hospitals across the country but does not flow
in quickly enough to support pandemic-type decisions. To tem‐
porarily fill this gap and help the federal government understand
whether hospitals were becoming overwhelmed with COVID cases,
we created a dashboard report on the supply and use of hospital
beds, ICU beds and ventilators. This report is updated manually on
a daily basis by key contacts in the provinces and territories as well
as CIHI staff.
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Finally, some gaps exist because we can't integrate data. Infor‐
mation systems often can't speak to each other, sometimes because
they use different standards, but sometimes the data doesn't include
personal identifiers that allow this connection. For example, right
now we can't follow a patient's full COVID experience from testing
through to treatment and, hopefully, to recovery, because public
health electronic medical records and health system records are
fragmented.

CIHI is always working to enhance the scope and availability of
Canada's health system data for analysis and decision-making.
While there are many gaps, we recommend focusing on three.

First is comprehensive, timely and integrated health workforce
data to support planning and policy.

The collection and analysis of health workforce data is fragment‐
ed and incomplete today. We need to capture additional professions
in our current systems, such as respiratory technicians and personal
support workers, to better understand both the mix of staff who pro‐
vide front-line care and where they work. We also need to make
sure that this data is linkable to data on the use of health services
and to financial data systems. This could help identify infection
rates in the health workforce, the use of overtime and the longer-
term effects of COVID-19 on front-line workers.

The second gap is in the need for more complete and timely data
on long-term care homes: the residents, the workforce and the facil‐
ities.

While there's excellent information on the clinical profiles of
long-term care residents in most parts of the country, there are some
significant gaps. We have little information about the residents'
quality of life and care experiences before COVID, or how these
might have changed during the pandemic. We also have limited in‐
formation about the facilities themselves, the mix of staff who pro‐
vide care, and the way infectious outbreaks are dealt with. It's im‐
portant to recognize that while long-term care treats our most vul‐
nerable seniors, many older Canadians live in a variety of different
group care settings for which we have very little information.

The final area is a need for more timely and comprehensive data
on hospital-based care and clinic services, both for COVID patients
and for patients with other health conditions.

CIHI's hospital data provides deep insight into the number of
Canadians treated and the type of care they receive, but this high-
quality data is assembled by health information specialists after a
patient is discharged from the hospital. To better manage our sys‐
tems when they're facing emerging issues like COVID-19, but also
the seasonal flu or the opioid crisis, we need to automate the flow
of hospital data in real or near real time and have more information
on patients when they're admitted.

Discussions around these actionable solutions are under way.
The groundwork is there, but these solutions require the engage‐
ment of health system managers and health care providers, leader‐
ship from policy-makers and funding for the development and im‐
plementation of information systems.
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Today we ask for your commitment and support. Better data al‐
lows for better decisions and, ultimately, healthier Canadians.

Thank you for the opportunity to present. I'd be pleased to an‐
swer any questions.

The Chair: Thank you.

We go now to the Department of Public Safety and Emergency
Preparedness, the RCMP and the Communications Security Estab‐
lishment.

I believe Mr. Jones is going to start. Please go ahead for a 10-
minute statement.

Mr. Scott Jones (Head, Canadian Centre for Cyber Security,
Communications Security Establishment): Good afternoon and
thank you, Mr. Chair and committee members, for the invitation to
appear today to discuss cybersecurity during the COVID-19 pan‐
demic.

As mentioned, I'm Scott Jones and I am the head of the Canadian
Centre for Cyber Security at the Communications Security Estab‐
lishment. I'm very pleased to be joined by my colleagues: Chief Su‐
perintendent Mark Flynn, director general of financial crime and
cybercrime from the RCMP, and Colleen Merchant, director gener‐
al of national cyber security from the Department of Public Safety.

Our departments have distinct but complementary mandates as
they relate to cybersecurity.

The CSE, reporting to the Minister of National Defence, is one
of Canada's key intelligence agencies and the country's lead techni‐
cal authority for cybersecurity. The Canadian Centre for Cyber Se‐
curity, or as I will refer to it from now on, the cyber centre, is a
branch within the CSE. We defend the Government of Canada, we
share best practices to prevent compromises, we manage and coor‐
dinate incidents of national importance and we work to secure a
digital Canada.

Public Safety leads the Government of Canada's cybersecurity
policy work. This involves the implementation of the 2018 national
cybersecurity strategy and the coordination of government-wide ef‐
forts to help secure digital and cyber-assets through strategic-level
initiatives. Public Safety also supports critical infrastructure protec‐
tion and offers assessment tools to provide expert advice to owners
and operators on how to improve their cybersecurity and cyber-re‐
silience posture.
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RCMP federal policing is responsible for the investigation of at‐
tacks against Canada's critical infrastructure—which includes the
health care sector—in collaboration with the police of local juris‐
diction. Additionally, the RCMP has its national cybercrime coordi‐
nation unit, which is a national police service that coordinates the
response of Canadian police agencies to cybercrime incidents. To‐
gether our three departments work with the greater Canadian cyber‐
security community to protect Canada and Canadians from poten‐
tial cyber-threats.

Today I would like to provide an update on what the current cy‐
ber-threat environment looks like in the COVID-19 pandemic and
also highlight the important work that the CSE, the RCMP and
Public Safety are doing to protect the Government of Canada and
Canadians specifically in the context of the health sector.

Cyber-threat actors are attempting to take advantage of Canadi‐
ans' heightened levels of concerns around COVID-19. Prior to, and
amplified by, the pandemic, our lives are becoming increasingly re‐
liant on digital communication. Cybercriminals are aware of this
digital reliance and are seeking to take advantage of the current sit‐
uation. More than ever, collaboration for cybersecurity is critical,
whether it is for the cyber-infrastructure underlying the Internet of
things, connected devices or for the applications supporting digital
exposure notification. Designing solutions with cybersecurity in
mind is a condition for long-term success.

From a government perspective, the underlying objective must
be to protect Canadians online. These efforts are under way and
they are significant, with the cyber centre as the lead for the federal
government. Among these efforts, cybersecurity and cybercrime re‐
main interconnected and remind us of the importance of pursuing
those responsible through the criminal justice system.

Law enforcement remains a critical element of cybersecurity. As
such, the RCMP federal policing program investigates the most sig‐
nificant threats to Canada's political, economic and social integrity,
including cybercrime that targets the federal government, threatens
Canada's critical infrastructure and the health care sector, involves
the use of cyber-systems to facilitate or support terrorist activities
and threatens key business assets with high economic impact.

The RCMP works with domestic and international law enforce‐
ment partners and with other Government of Canada agencies to
ensure that the wide array of cyber-threats is not treated in isola‐
tion. Appropriate and timely information sharing is essential for in‐
vestigation, which in turn contributes to improved cybersecurity for
Canadians. For example, the cyber centre and the RCMP work to‐
gether by sharing information about scams to warn Canadians and
share indicators of compromise so they can be blocked and prevent‐
ed. From a public safety perspective, they tackle these questions by
engaging with stakeholders and fostering good discussions to iden‐
tify problems and propose policy solutions.

The cyber centre is working tirelessly to raise public awareness
of cyber-threats to health organizations by proactively issuing cy‐
ber-threat alerts and providing tailored advice to the health sector,
government partners and industry stakeholders. Throughout
COVID-19, the cyber centre has worked closely with industry and
commercial partners to facilitate the removal of malicious websites,
including those that have spoofed Canadian government depart‐

ments and agencies. The cyber centre has also helped monitor and
protect important Government of Canada programs against cyber-
threats, including the Canada emergency response benefit web ap‐
plication. We have continued to evaluate cloud applications, includ‐
ing for the Public Health Agency, and enabled cybersecurity moni‐
toring and defence for cloud usage across the government.

Individual Canadians, however, are also at risk. As people and
organizations shift to working and learning from home, personal
devices and home networks have become attractive targets. In re‐
sponse, the cyber centre has partnered with the Canadian Internet
Registration Authority, CIRA, to create and launch the CIRA Cana‐
dian shield, a free DNS firewall service, which provides online pri‐
vacy and security to all Canadians for free.
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The cyber centre has also collaborated with the Canadian Anti-
Fraud Centre. It is operated by the RCMP, the Ontario Provincial
Police and the Competition Bureau, which are Canada's trusted
sources for reporting and mitigating mass-marketing fraud.

The Anti-Fraud Centre's primary goals are prevention through
education awareness, the disruption of criminal activities and the
dissemination of intelligence that enables law enforcement to iden‐
tify organized crime involvement in fraud schemes.

Through targeted advice and guidance, the cyber centre is help‐
ing to protect Canadians' cybersecurity interests. I encourage all
Canadians to visit getcybersafe.gc.ca and all businesses to visit cy‐
ber.gc.ca to learn more about our best practices that can be applied
to protect you and all Canadians from cyber-threats.

Finally, the cyber centre has assessed that the COVID-19 pan‐
demic presents an elevated level of risk to the cybersecurity of
Canadian health organizations involved in the response to the pan‐
demic. Cyber-threat actors know that the health sector is under in‐
tense pressure to slow the spread of COVID-19 and to produce
medical treatments to prevent new infections and their spread. Hos‐
pitals and other front-line medical services are often vulnerable to
malicious cyber-threat activity due to limited cybersecurity capaci‐
ty.
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We continue to recommend that Canadian health organizations
remain extra vigilant and take the time to ensure they are applying
cyber-defence best practices, including increased monitoring of net‐
work logs, reminding employees to be alert to suspicious emails
and to use secure teleworking practices where applicable, and en‐
suring that servers in critical systems are patched for all known se‐
curity vulnerabilities.

To further protect the health sector, Public Safety, in close collab‐
oration with the cyber centre, is developing a Canadian cyber-sur‐
vey tool to provide health sector organizations such as hospitals,
doctors' offices and long-term care facilities, among others, with an
easy-to-use tool to assess the cybersecurity of their organization.
The survey can be completed in less than an hour and is completely
voluntary. It will be used for two main purposes.

The first is to provide the organization with a report detailing any
technical and cybersecurity program-related findings that could and
should be addressed to enhance their cybersecurity. The second is
to identify cybersecurity trends and common challenges in the
health sector to help tailor cybersecurity engagements by the Gov‐
ernment of Canada to strengthen the cybersecurity posture of the
health sector as a whole. Public Safety is aiming to launch this sur‐
vey tool in the coming weeks and will broaden the application of
this tool to all 10 critical infrastructure sectors to examine the cy‐
bersecurity of all aspects of supply chains.

It should also be noted that the RCMP's national critical infras‐
tructure team has worked with the Public Health Agency of Canada
to share awareness material within the health sector. In addition,
they have divisions across the country to continue to develop new
partnerships within the health sector, increasing those organiza‐
tions' situational awareness of the potential threat landscape.

Together, our three departments would like to note that even
when all of the possible precautions are taken, if a compromise oc‐
curs, it is critical that organizations inform us of any cyber-incident
they experience. Cybersecurity is everyone's responsibility, and it
will take all of our expertise and collaboration to protect Canada
and Canadians. The more we share, the better protected we will all
be. If we don't share, then the next person who gets hit will be the
next victim.

Thank you for the invitation to appear before you today. We will
be happy to answer any questions you may have.

The Chair: StatsCan, please go ahead. You have 10 minutes for
an opening statement.

Mr. Jeff Latimer (Director General and Strategic Advisor for
Health Data, Statistics Canada): Thank you very much, Mr.
Chair.

I'd like to thank you for the opportunity to appear before your
committee as a representative of Statistics Canada. As a public ser‐
vant, I am always grateful for these opportunities. I'm here with my
colleagues Karen Mihorean and Marc Lachance. They will answer
questions within their areas of expertise if required.

It's clear to us that the pandemic has raised significant concerns
about the disproportionate impacts across Canada based upon so‐
cio-economic differences. Not all groups have been equally affect‐
ed, and we have observed such impacts within our data, particularly

among seniors living in long-term care facilities, health care work‐
ers, racialized communities, indigenous communities and those liv‐
ing in low-income households.

Before presenting a few key examples, it's important to highlight
the data collection accountabilities related to COVID-19.

As you probably know, the provincial and territorial public
health authorities are responsible for collecting and reporting within
their jurisdictions on COVID-19 cases. The Public Health Agency
of Canada is responsible for receiving this data from the provinces
and territories and reporting at the national level. While Statistics
Canada does not collect COVID-19 data directly, we do provide ex‐
pertise and advice on gaps in existing data and on potential strate‐
gies to address such gaps, as well as data collection and data ex‐
change standards.

I'd like to make one last point related to data collection before I
provide examples. There are generally two methods: survey data,
from a sample the population, and administrative data, typically
from a census of all cases. COVID-19 data is collected through ad‐
ministrative data, which often has a number of limitations. In
Canada, it is clear these data limitations are creating significant
challenges.

First, there is a lack of common data standards and data ex‐
change standards across the country, along with inefficient data
processing and data quality concerns. Second, the lack of granulari‐
ty in the data that is collected related to COVID-19 makes it diffi‐
cult to answer key policy questions. For example, there is no data
collected on such demographic characteristics as race, ethnicity or
income, and no data on an individual's underlying health status. In
addition, detailed geospatial data is not available to better under‐
stand the spread of COVID-19. Finally, and I think most important‐
ly, the data submitted to the federal government does not include
identifiers that could facilitate safe and appropriate record linkage
with existing Statistics Canada datasets that could potentially fill
these gaps.
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That said, we have been actively collecting new survey data and
analyzing our existing data to shed some light on the potential indi‐
rect impacts of COVID-19. During this time of social distancing,
for example, 64% of youth are reporting substantial declines in
their mental health status, compared with only 35% of seniors. The
unemployment rate for students in May of this year was 40%,
which is triple the rate reported last year in the same month. A sim‐
ilar pattern was evident among non-student youth as well. More
than 70% of seniors in Canada over the age of 80 report at least one
pre-existing chronic condition related to severe symptoms of
COVID-19, which is more than double the rate among adults under
60.

If we look at the immigrant population, we see that employment
losses during COVID-19 have been more than double compared
with the Canadian-born population. We also know that before
COVID-19, black Canadians were already experiencing unemploy‐
ment rates twice that of the general population. The wage gap be‐
tween these groups has been widening in recent years. Among
black youth, almost twice as many report experiencing food insecu‐
rity as compared with other young Canadians. Visible minority
populations, such as Chinese and Korean Canadians, have reported
increases in race-based negative incidents over the last few months.
One in ten women have reported being concerned about violence in
their home during the pandemic.

If we examine the socio-demographic characteristics of long-
term care workers, who are currently facing some of the most diffi‐
cult challenges, we see that they are more likely to be immigrants,
they are less likely to work full time, and they are more likely to
earn less than the average Canadian. Indigenous men are two and a
half times more likely to be unemployed. They earn, on average,
23% less than their non-indigenous counterparts. In almost all indi‐
cators, including health status and life expectancy, the indigenous
population lags well behind Canadian averages.

The pandemic has shone a glaring light on many of these pre-ex‐
isting social inequities that Statistics Canada has been tracking for
decades. In order to respond to the need for more data, we have
launched a number of rapid data collection vehicles, such as web
panels and crowdsourcing surveys. The topics have included the
impacts of COVID-19 on labour, food insecurity, mental health,
perceptions of safety, trust in others and parenting concerns. Statis‐
tics Canada finished collection just yesterday, using our crowd‐
sourcing surveys, to better understand the impact on persons with
long-term disabilities. This data will be available in early August. It
will include information on visible minority status as well as such
other demographic markers as gender, immigrant status and indige‐
nous identity. More data on mental health issues will also be made
available in the coming weeks. It will provide breakdowns by gen‐
der diversity, immigrant status and ethnocultural groups.

In partnership with the provinces and territories, we have also
significantly increased the timeliness of death data in Canada so
that a clear picture of excess deaths during the pandemic can be es‐
timated. We will be releasing this data publicly next month.

We are also partnering with the Canadian Institute for Health In‐
formation to examine in greater detail the issues among health care
workers and long-term care facilities.
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Finally, we are working with the Public Health Agency of
Canada to make detailed preliminary data on the number of con‐
firmed COVID-19 cases available to Canadians and researchers.

I'd like to thank you very much for your time. My colleagues and
I are available to answer any questions you may have.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you. Thank you to all the witnesses for their
statements.

We will start our rounds of questioning and we will undertake to
do two rounds. However, we are going to be short on time, so we're
going to cut it down. In the first round, we're going to do five-
minute time slots instead of six, and we'll start with Ms. Jansen.

Ms. Jansen, please go ahead for five minutes.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Thank you very much.

I wonder if I might be able to begin my questions with Ms. Mer‐
chant. I have a question in regard to an issue that has had a bit of
news.

On March 31, 2019, Canada's National Microbiology Lab sent
15 strains of Ebola and henipavirus to the Wuhan Institute of Virol‐
ogy for the purpose of gain-of-function experiments. In gain-of-
function experiments, a pathogen is intentionally mutated for the
purpose of seeing if it's more deadly or infectious. An ATIP was re‐
cently released that gave us some of the details of that transfer of
those viruses to the Wuhan lab, but most of the important informa‐
tion was missing.

Since the government has stated repeatedly how it is committed
to a whole-of-government approach to pathogen security, can you
explain what part your department played in the investigation of
this breach?

Ms. Colleen Merchant (Director General, National Cyber Se‐
curity, National and Cyber Security Branch, Department of
Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness): Was that question
directed to me?

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Yes, Ms. Merchant. I'm wondering about
the whole-of-government approach to pathogen security. Can you
explain what part your department would have played in investigat‐
ing this breach?

Ms. Colleen Merchant: That's something that I would not be
able to answer. It sounds like it was not a cybersecurity issue. I
would be happy to go back and see if someone else in the depart‐
ment would be able to answer that question.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Is there possibly anybody else on the pan‐
el who might have some information in regard to that breach?

Ms. Colleen Merchant: I don't think so. Scott and Mark from
the RCMP would not have information on that either.
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Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Okay.

We know that in 2014 China conducted a significant cyber-attack
against the NRC and, despite this history, the NRC has partnered
with a company connected to the Chinese regime, CanSino, to pro‐
duce a vaccine in Canada. Are you concerned about this at all?

Ms. Colleen Merchant: From a cybersecurity standpoint, we're
very concerned whenever there's an issue with the vulnerabilities in
any of the information that may be transferred between organiza‐
tions. From a telecommunications or a computer security aspect,
we're always concerned, whether it's from here to another country
or even within Canada.

To secure the infrastructure is where Scott Jones and his organi‐
zation, the cyber centre, come in to provide the best advice and
guidance to organizations such as the NRC.
● (1335)

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Is your department monitoring the situa‐
tion right now in regard to the work that's being done with CanSi‐
no?

Ms. Colleen Merchant: Public Safety would not be monitoring
that. That would more likely be monitored, I would say, from a cy‐
bersecurity perspective, by the cyber centre or some of our security
and intelligence colleagues, but from a strategic policy point of
view, which is where Public Safety fits in, it's not something that
we're monitoring closely.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: It would not be your department that
would discover whether inappropriate cyber interactions were hap‐
pening between, say, that doctor—Dr. Qiu—and the team at the
Wuhan Institute of Virology?

Ms. Colleen Merchant: No, it would not be. That's more in the
security and intelligence area.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Okay. Then I think I'll move on to Statis‐
tics Canada.

Mr. Latimer, following the SARS break in early 2003, IBM pro‐
duced an IT system for the Public Health Agency of Canada called
Panorama. It was meant to ensure we had a comprehensive national
communicable disease outbreak management system. This program
was developed by IBM, the creator of our infamous Phoenix pay
system, and in August 2015 the Auditor General of B.C., where I'm
from, found that the program was prone to errors, slow to function
and susceptible to unsuspected system outages. It was basically a
complete disaster that cost B.C. taxpayers alone the ridiculous sum
of $113 million, which was 420% more than originally quoted.

Are you familiar with this program and how it functioned?
Mr. Jeff Latimer: Thank you for the question.

I am not familiar with this program, as it's a Public Health Agen‐
cy accountability, so I would not be able to comment on it. I can
comment on the current data situation in Canada, but not on that
system.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: Okay.
The Chair: You have 18 seconds, please.
Mrs. Tamara Jansen: I was wondering about the problem of

getting national data collection programs together. Is it because

we're unable to get provincial buy-in? I was told that in two weeks,
StatsCan could come up with a live system that could be used for
this purpose.

Mr. Jeff Latimer: I'm not convinced that two weeks would be
appropriate, but I do think that we have the expertise and the expe‐
rience to help the country develop national data standards and data
exchange standards, yes.

Mrs. Tamara Jansen: So you could come up with something
like that—

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Jansen. We'll go now to Mr. Fisher.

Mr. Fisher, please go ahead. You have five minutes.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thanks to all of you for being here today. My first question
would be for the Communications Security Establishment folks.

We're hearing about coronavirus scams and phishing. Just this
week, we're hearing about seniors who are getting calls about the
top-up to COVID-19 assistance from the government on OAS and
GIS, calls that are asking for information to access their bank ac‐
counts in order to deposit this money, when of course they don't
have to apply for this money.

How does your organization work with the local RCMP or with
local police forces, I guess, to investigate something like this? Also,
how do you work to ensure that the public is aware of these scams?
We put it on our Facebook today, and it's been shared over 300
times.

Mr. Scott Jones: Thank you for the question, Mr. Chair.

There are actually many different ways we're working on to deal
with this. Maybe Chief Superintendent Flynn would like to jump in
as well, from the RCMP perspective.

The first thing is that for anything that looks like it's impersonat‐
ing the Government of Canada, we've been very active in trying to
make sure that we are protecting both the brand and the integrity, so
we're taking those offline very quickly, to the point where a lot of
times that's happening before Canadians can fall victim to it. The
second thing, though, is that we also are sharing a lot of informa‐
tion so that these are blocked. For email-based scams that you click
on and it gets you to do something, the CIRA Canadian Shield ac‐
tually has those blocked. Canadians would be protected if they
were to use this free service that has been stood up.

In the third way, we are working with the RCMP's Canadian An‐
ti-Fraud Centre, as I mentioned in my opening remarks, to also get
information out there so that Canadians are aware. Unfortunately,
COVID-19 is a particularly good lure to get people to click and to
share information. That's why we've been putting out a lot of infor‐
mation and threat assessments and threat bulletins, etc., as well.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you for that.
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For the folks at CIHI, we were all shocked at this committee—
we have heard a lot about this, and Nova Scotia has been hit just as
hard—to find out that four of every five deaths from coronavirus
were those of residents in long-term care.

What kinds of measures do you believe the provinces and territo‐
ries should implement in long-term care? I know that you folks
touched on this a bit during your opening remarks, but how are oth‐
er countries tackling this problem?
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Ms. Kathleen Morris: Thank you very much for the question,
Mr. Chair.

You're correct. CIHI did actually share some information quite
recently about how the long-term care sector in the country had
been quite hard hit.

Overall, looking across all age groups, Canada's death rate from
COVID has actually been lower than an international average, but
the incidents in long-term care have definitely stood out as one of
the highest. One of the things we learned from this was that coun‐
tries that implemented some specific measures targeted at the long-
term care sector at the same time as they put in their broader shut‐
down measures really had many fewer COVID infections and
deaths in long-term care. Some of the things that might be included
in specific long-term care measures would be around broad testing
for residents of long-term care facilities, and repeated testing. There
would be isolation wards, potentially, to make sure that if one of the
residents becomes ill, there's a way to separate that resident from
others to reduce infection.

As well, one of the important parts is is to have the right kinds of
supports for long-term care workers, such as being able to use surge
staffing, for example, when the caseload became greater. In
Canada's case, the army was involved in some provinces. Others
were having specialized trained teams and were making personal
protective equipment freely available so that all of the long-term
care workers felt secure.

Those are some of the measures we've seen in other countries
that had lower death rates in long-term care.

Mr. Darren Fisher: They had higher death rates possibly across
the board, but they were lower in long-term care.

Ms. Kathleen Morris: That's correct.
Mr. Darren Fisher: To the StatsCan folks, thank you for being

here.

Tell me a little bit about how StatsCan is changing from what
they normally would do and going above and beyond because of
this new normal and the impacts we're facing with COVID-19.

Mr. Jeff Latimer: I think in my opening remarks I highlighted a
few things. I'll repeat them and add a few that I think are important.

First and foremost, we have been implementing significantly
new data collection methods that are quite rapid. For example, our
web panels and our crowdsourcing surveys, while they're not the
same as our full representative surveys across the country, are pro‐
viding significant and new information in a very rapid time frame. I
think that's a critical step forward. We're still relying, and we need

to rely, on our national statistics program, but these are interesting
and important additions.

We've also been working with the provinces to speed up the col‐
lection and reporting of death data in Canada. That's a critical
piece. It used to be two years, almost, between the fact of the death
and the reporting, and we are now planning on releasing monthly
reports. We are working with the provinces and territories and we
are hoping to have as much coverage as we can on a monthly basis.
Those reports will be starting next month. It's a massive increase,
and I think an important one for Canada, to start to see the death
data and to move forward with that data. Those are two that I think
are really important.

We are working in a number of other areas. Disaggregation of
data is a critical piece. We're really working hard to try to make the
data available at the level that's required to make significant policy
decisions.

Those are three that I would highlight.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fisher.

[Translation]

It is now Mr. Desilets' turn.

Mr. Desilets, you have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My thanks to all the witnesses for joining us. I also thank them
for agreeing to provide us with their expertise and their knowledge.

My first question goes to Mr. Latimer.

Here on the Standing Committee on Health, we have heard, on
several occasions, a good number of participants talk to us about all
the major difficulties, that happen everywhere and in different
ways, in circulating information and data, in collecting those data,
and in exchanging data between the provinces and the federal level.

Today, just now, we heard the representative from the Canadian
Institute for Health Information tell us about those same concerns.
An hour earlier, it was Dr. McKenzie. In short, a number of wit‐
nesses have brought up the matter.

Mr. Latimer, do you agree with the statement I am making?
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Mr. Jeff Latimer: Thank you very much for your question,
Mr. Desilets.

[English]

I would agree that there are significant issues in the way in which
COVID-19 data is collected in the jurisdictions and reported feder‐
ally. I highlighted a couple in my opening remarks.
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There really are no common data standards and data exchange
standards across the country. I think that is a significant issue. The
level of detail that is collected does not provide the important de‐
mographic breakdowns that would be required. As well, personal
identifiers at the federal level are also not available. That linkage
would be a significant savings and a way in which we can fill in
data gaps through record linkage with our existing data holdings.

Therefore yes, I would agree with that statement.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: In a developed country like ours, how do you
explain the fact that we do not have a master plan, an integrated
plan, although we are well aware that, in the case of a pandemic
such as the one we are experiencing, information is critical?

South Korea managed to establish a system that gave very pre‐
cise guidelines in 24 hours. This is your area: perhaps you can un‐
derstand it. Frankly, I cannot.

How is it that we have no integrated plan to transmit critical in‐
formation?

Mr. Jeff Latimer: Thank you for the question.
[English]

I do not want to speak on behalf of my colleagues at the Public
Health Agency of Canada, but I will say that they are working on a
strategy. We are collaborating with them every single day and
working closely to help develop a national strategy that would ad‐
dress all of the issues I've highlighted.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Mr. Latimer, am I to understand that the re‐
sponsibility should fall to the Public Health Agency of Canada?
Should the agency manage, supervise and control this compilation
of extremely essential information?
[English]

Mr. Jeff Latimer: I would not be comfortable. I think it's well
above my decision-making authority to decide who in Canada
should be collecting this data.

I will say that both organizations have the expertise, and we are
working collaboratively to fill in the gaps.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: I am talking about the Public Health Agency
of Canada. What is the other organization you mention?
[English]

Mr. Jeff Latimer: I was talking about the Public Health Agency
of Canada and Statistics Canada, and we are working collaborative‐
ly with Health Canada as well. We are working with all three.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you very much, Mr. Latimer.

Do I have any time left, Mr. Chair?
[English]

The Chair: You have about 40 seconds.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: I will be quick.

Mr. Jones, two weeks ago, the Standing Committee on Health
asked the government to establish a way for security to be built into
digital products and services from their design stage.

Does that seem realistic to you?

[English]

Mr. Scott Jones: I think it's very important, as I mentioned in
my opening statements, to have cybersecurity designed from the
start to understand what threats can be faced. Unfortunately, when
we look at an application, typically we look at the benefits. We also
need to look at how it can be misused from a cybersecurity perspec‐
tive. I think we've made a lot of strides, certainly in the exposure
notification system. Part of the team that's working on this is mak‐
ing sure that it is ready from the start and designed with cybersecu‐
rity in mind.

It's important that we continue to reinforce that it's not just the
benefits of the technology. We also have to look at how it can be
misused.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you, Mr. Jones.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desilets,

[English]

We will go to Mr. Davies.

Mr. Davies, please go ahead for five minutes.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for being here.

Ms. Morris, my first question is to you.

Does CIHI currently collect national information regarding the
availability of health care system resources such as ventilators, in‐
tensive care units and hospital beds?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: We do collect that information and we
have quite detailed information on the patients who would be using
these services. One of the challenges is that it flows a little more
slowly because it's based on discharge data, so it's not available as
quickly as we might like during a pandemic situation.

One of the things that we've done to address this issue is pull to‐
gether data very quickly, working with the provinces and territories,
to create a dashboard that looks at the supply of ICU beds and ven‐
tilators, the number of COVID patients who are using these re‐
sources and the number of people with other health concerns who
need that type of care. We put that together and update it daily.

● (1350)

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.



26 HESA-32 July 7, 2020

Do all provincial and territorial governments now provide CIHI
with that information?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: Yes. There are a few small gaps, but in
general we're getting good data flows from the provinces and terri‐
tories.

Mr. Don Davies: Could you undertake to provide this committee
with a list of that information? I'm curious, for instance, to know
how many ventilators we have available in Canada, particularly if
we face a second wave in the fall. Is that something you could pro‐
vide to the committee?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: I believe that would be possible, and I
will take a look at the.... The numbers change daily, but we will en‐
deavour to bring you some of that information after the meeting.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

In response to calls for better demographic data to understand
health inequities and COVID-19, in May CIHI released an interim
race data standard, intended for use by any jurisdictional organiza‐
tion that decides to collect this kind of data. However, as you prob‐
ably heard in the first panel and after that, many advocates have
criticized this approach because it's voluntary. They say the federal
government has a leadership role to play to ensure there's consistent
pan-Canadian data, regardless of jurisdiction.

Since the current gap in information makes it impossible to target
resources and care where they're most needed, should the federal
government impose mandatory national standards with respect to
the collection and sharing of socio-demographic data related to
COVID-19?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: We believe that having as much detailed
data available as possible is critical to understanding, planning and
managing health services. We've worked for quite a long time with
affected communities to develop what we call our equity standards.
Those talk about income, sex, gender—a number of things—and
they include race and indigenous status. They are important to real‐
ly understand the situation and to plan services.

One thing we've learned through this is that while collecting the
data is important, it's also very important that the communities that
generate the data or are the subject of the data are comfortable with
collaborating in the data collection. In many cases there are racial‐
ized groups in particular who believe that data collection has been
used for purposes that have created difficulties for them. We be‐
lieve that attitude is changing and that the benefit of data is clear.
Our role is to provide the standards so that it's collected in compa‐
rable and clear ways and can be aggregated for good use.

Mr. Don Davies: Mr. Latimer, you've identified that one of the
gaps is a lack of common data standards nationally. Do you also
think there should be national mandatory reporting with respect to
demographic information, such as race and ethnicity? I would note
that we do know, and we heard in the previous panel, that in our
census StatsCan does give a sample of 100,000 people who are typ‐
ically asked those questions. Is it time to make that apply to every‐
body?

Mr. Jeff Latimer: I'm going to turn to my colleague Marc
Lachance, who has the expertise to answer that question for you.

Mr. Marc Lachance (Acting Director General, Diversity and
Populations, Statistics Canada): Good afternoon.

This is a very good question. Similar to our colleague from CIHI,
Statistics Canada produces national standards. As you mentioned,
the census is one of the major data collection activities in which we
apply those standards. As a national statistical organization, Statis‐
tics Canada makes all those standards available. We develop them
with communities and with experts. We also test them with the re‐
spondents to ensure that they understand those standards. As a re‐
sult, we have standards that we can make available to other organi‐
zations. They're all available publicly. As mentioned, they are all
trusted and used.

We are also working closely with our—

● (1355)

Mr. Don Davies: With respect, Mr. Lachance, the question is
whether or not you would make it mandatory for all Canadians to
be asked about race and ethnicity instead of only 100,000.

Mr. Marc Lachance: I don't think I understand the question
about the 100,000.

As you know, in the census we do ask those questions to a cer‐
tain ratio of the population. There are standards relating to ethnicity
and ethnic origins. We also have visible minority questions. Those
are the questions that we ask through the census, and also through
other surveys.

Statistics Canada doesn't have the mandate to force those stan‐
dards. We apply those standards to our surveys to ensure that the
interoperability among our surveys is as good as the census and
other population surveys we are administering, including the health
surveys.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

The Chair: That ends round one. We will start round two now.
We're going to cut back time on this round as well. The five-minute
slots will go to four minutes. The two-and-a-half-minute slots, un‐
fortunately, will have to go to two minutes.

Mr. Webber, please go ahead for four minutes.

Mr. Len Webber: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Latimer, you brought up StatsCan's collection of data on
COVID-19 deaths. I want to know whether you are collecting data
on non-COVID deaths due to cancellations of elective surgeries,
such as heart procedures or cancer treatments, because of the re‐
sponse to this pandemic.

Mr. Jeff Latimer: We collect data on all deaths in Canada, not
just COVID-19. The monthly death reporting that we're planning
on starting next month will include all deaths that are reported to us
from the provinces and territories. We would not be able to make a
determination as to whether those deaths were the result of some‐
thing, but other analysts may be able to look at those questions.
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Mr. Len Webber: Thank you for that.

This question is directed to Mr. Jones at the cyber centre.

Almost overnight and without warning, industry and government
went home to work during this pandemic, adopting things like
Zoom overnight, as we did here. There is much talk about govern‐
ment employees working from home in the future as well. Many of
these employees have access to state secrets, military information
and personal information.

How would you recommend that we balance the risks between
personal safety and security and national safety and security?

Mr. Scott Jones: I think there are a lot of important elements.
First, we do have advice and guidance for Canadians who are work‐
ing from home with regard to the things they can do. In using
Zoom, for example, as we are right now, you can be a lot more se‐
cure by using lobbies, waiting rooms, word passcodes and things
like that, so that you can't be “Zoom-bombed”—the tool of the
time—or something like that. In working from home, a lot of things
can be done to make yourself more secure. Canadian Shield is one
of those for every Canadian.

From a government-specific aspect, though, we work with our
colleagues at Shared Services Canada and Treasury Board. For ex‐
ample, I use a government-furnished device that is managed very
carefully. I do not have administrative privileges. We do have de‐
fensive monitoring, and it works through the government network.
Even though I'm using my home Wi-Fi, I am not connected directly
to the Internet. I connect back into the government through a secure
network.

With regard to the national security side of things, which is also
one of our responsibilities, I have people who are still working in‐
side secure facilities because the nature of the work requires it.

Mr. Len Webber: Thank you.

Do you have any concerns, Mr. Jones, about Huawei technology
in home Internet networks?

Mr. Scott Jones: I think one aspect we really look at is how to
layer in multiple levels of cybersecurity. From my perspective, ev‐
ery piece of technology has some level of vulnerability. We really
look to offset that. If one product doesn't work the way you expect,
how do you layer it in?

I'll use the example of my work device here, which is connected
over VPN. We use encryption to protect the confidentiality of the
work that's being done. We've done operating system hardening, so
we've turned off a lot of features. I can't install different software. I
can't bypass our security controls. Even if, for example, somebody
manages to put the alligator clips, to use an old term, on the lines,
they can't read anything I'm doing. The encryption is protecting it.

It's about layering security so that you're not dependent on just
one thing to protect yourself.
● (1400)

Mr. Len Webber: Thank you for that.

This is a question for Chief Superintendent Mark Flynn of the
RCMP. This issue wasn't discussed here today, but I am certainly
curious about it.

The RCMP is responsible for enforcing quarantines. We under‐
stand that compliance rates have left much to be desired, as many
have thumbed their nose at the requirement to isolate for 14 days.
Can you explain how you enforce the quarantines and, more impor‐
tantly, how you deal with non-compliant travellers, such as U.S.
travellers claiming they are going to Alaska through Canada and
taking other alternate routes in Canada?

Chief Superintendent Mark Flynn (Director General, Finan‐
cial Crime and Cybercrime, Federal Policing Criminal Opera‐
tions, Royal Canadian Mounted Police): I am from the RCMP.
Unfortunately, that is not an area of my responsibility. I can say,
however, that the RCMP, being both federal police and provincial
police for many of the provinces across the country, have been ac‐
tively involved in significant efforts to enforce the Quarantine Act.

I'd be happy to go back to my colleagues to get some additional
information for the committee.

Mr. Len Webber: That would be fantastic. Thank you.

Mr. Chair, can I just ask that the information be provided through
you to the committee?

The Chair: Yes, absolutely. Thank you, Mr. Webber.

Witnesses, please take note that if you have any information that
you want to send to the committee, send it to the clerk. It will be
translated as appropriate and distributed.

Mr. Kelloway, please go ahead. You have four minutes.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: Thanks, Mr. Chair.

Colleagues, staff and witnesses, thanks for being here today.

My questions are for StatsCan. I'd like to start by talking about
Canadians and mental health during this pandemic. We know that
many factors related to the COVID-19 pandemic—job loss, isola‐
tion, uncertainty, anxiety—can impact the mental health of individ‐
uals.

Can you describe the impact that COVID-19 has had on the self-
perceived mental health of Canadians?

Mr. Jeff Latimer: I'll start with one short answer and then turn
to my colleague Karen Mihorean for more details, if she has some.

One point we are making is that we have seen a significant de‐
cline in self-reported mental health during the pandemic. I high‐
lighted in my remarks that 64% of youth, which is a significant
number, have reported declines in their mental health status, and
35% of seniors. It is obviously an important issue.

Karen, do you have any additional information that you'd like to
provide?

Ms. Karen Mihorean (Director General, Social Data Insights,
Integration and Innovation, Statistics Canada): Yes, thank you.
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What we've found is that not just youth have experienced a sig‐
nificant impact on their mental health. We've been able to compare
the data from our crowdsourcing and our web panel surveys to the
Canadian community health survey, looking at overall rates and
general perceptions of mental health in what people were reporting
in 2018-19 and then how it compares now. It's not just in youth that
we are seeing a decline; we're also seeing it among the indigenous
population and in immigrants. These are also populations that have
been particularly hit with job loss, for example, and the ability to
remain financially stable. We are seeing rather significant declines
in self-perceived mental health among those three groups especial‐
ly.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: The numbers on any one of those groups
are staggering to me. The 60% with respect to youth is quite strik‐
ing.

With respect to the report on self-perceived mental health, are
there any policy recommendations that come from it? I know
you've just mentioned some key findings, but are there any policy
recommendations that you can share with the committee and the
rest of us?

Ms. Karen Mihorean: Statistics Canada doesn't make policy
recommendations. We provide the information for our colleagues—
for instance, PHAC, Health Canada and associations across the
country—so that they see the data and, given the more severe im‐
pact of COVID on the mental health of certain groups, come up
with the policies that are best placed to address that issue.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: Wonderful.

Mr. Chair, how much time do I have?
The Chair: You have one minute.
Mr. Mike Kelloway: Oh, wonderful.

Mr. Jones, we know that cyber-attacks on health and research or‐
ganizations can come from many different actors throughout the
globe, as in the case of a state-sponsored attack, for example. What
plan is in place at Public Safety Canada or the RCMP, or both, to
put an end to the attack, find the guilty party and prevent further at‐
tacks?
● (1405)

Mr. Scott Jones: Typically, if there is an attempt to compromise
a health organization, we would respond from the cyber centre.

We've done a few different things. The first is alerts. When we
see anything that a health organization needs to take action on, we
issue those alerts, and they're timely. It's either alerts or flashes, etc.
Those are things that need to be acted on immediately. Unfortunate‐
ly, what we've seen is that some of them aren't acted upon, leaving
vulnerabilities open and essentially making it free to compromise
organizations.

The second thing is that multiple times a week, we have a call
with all of the health sectors around Canada to continue to provide
advice on what they're seeing and what we're seeing in terms of tar‐
geting, so they can also share information back to us. It's very im‐
portant that it be in two directions, and that when they see some‐
thing suspicious, they report it to both us and to the RCMP, in the

event of criminal matters, although we do share, and it's important
that we continue to share.

The third thing is that we published a threat assessment specific
to the health sector, a threat bulletin to tell them that they can ex‐
pect to see increased state-sponsored targeting as states look to gain
more information on, for example, vaccine production and re‐
search, and to warn them what it would look like and then to con‐
tinue to try to build awareness, because at the end of the day, pre‐
vention is far cheaper than responding to any incident.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kelloway.

We go now to Mr. Jeneroux.

Mr. Jeneroux, please go ahead for four minutes.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Thank you Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for being here today on a busy July
day.

I want to follow up with Ms. Morris. With regard to a question
from my colleague Mr. Davies, I asked about the information on
ventilators and hospital beds. I'm curious as to when you started
collecting that information. Was that, say, before January?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: We have some baseline data, particularly
on hospital beds and ICU beds, and more recently, I would say over
the last few months, we have been collecting information from
provinces and territories on that, so we have both historical baseline
data and more up-to-date information.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: On the up-to-date stuff, approximately
when did that change so that you started collecting more of that?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: That's in the last several weeks.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: Okay. Thank you.

To Statistics Canada, it's my understanding that you guys are de‐
veloping a national household survey on COVID-19. Is that cor‐
rect?

Mr. Jeff Latimer: No, we don't have a national household sur‐
vey, but I will let Karen speak to you about the surveys we are
launching, if you like.

Ms. Karen Mihorean: Thank you for that question.

As we've already mentioned, and as Jeff mentioned in the open‐
ing remarks, we did develop a web panel that we use to follow
about 7,000 Canadians. These are labour force rotate-outs, so they
participate in our labour force survey. This is what we call our
probabilistic sample, which we can generalize to the general popu‐
lation. We launch a new topic through our web panel. It is a house‐
hold survey, done through an electronic questionnaire, and they are
provided with the link to respond to the questions. About every four
to five weeks we send a different theme, and all of these themes
have been specifically related to various things related to COVID:
job loss, behaviours they've taken to protect themselves or, as we
mentioned before, mental health. We've asked questions around re‐
covery and those sorts of things.



July 7, 2020 HESA-32 29

Then we also have our crowdsourcing, which is not a household
survey. We are currently working with the Public Health Agency of
Canada on a survey of about 25 to 30 questions to look at the unin‐
tended consequences of COVID. We're hoping to launch that sur‐
vey sometime later in August. That survey will be, again, a proba‐
bilistic survey that we will be able to generalize to the population.
We will have at least national, provincial and territorial estimates,
and hopefully we will have them for the larger CMAs as well. I'm
sorry I don't have the exact sample size for that survey.

Mr. Matt Jeneroux: It would be great if we could have you
back to explain some of the data that you get. I think that would be
interesting.

My last question goes back to CIHI.

We saw that data was obviously lacking in the lead-up to
COVID-19. What recommendations do you have to improve our
data sharing regarding COVID-19, but also in any future pandemic
or a second wave?
● (1410)

Ms. Kathleen Morris: I think creating the infrastructure to have
more timely hospital data would be a critical piece to support pub‐
lic health surveillance. The hospital data is very rich, and it's a fab‐
ulous resource for both health system managers and researchers to
follow patients over a long course of time. The piece that is missing
in it is the quick and timely information on admission so that public
health has that information as soon as a patient is hospitalized.

It's been challenging with COVID because people very often
have very long lengths of stay, and getting the information only
when the patient has left the hospital delays things for up to a
month.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jeneroux.

We go now to Dr. Jaczek. Dr. Jaczek, please go ahead for four
minutes.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Thank you very much. My questions will
be directed to CIHI and StatsCan. As a number of my colleagues on
this committee have said, the testimony from witnesses overall has
been extremely critical of our existing datasets, the timeliness and
so on. I am sure you are very aware of that.

Ms. Morris, you have obviously told us that the Public Health
Agency of Canada, StatsCan and CIHI have very clearly articulated
areas of responsibility for which they collect data. Mr. Latimer has
made the comment that in fact there is really no identifier that links
across these organizations so that a researcher can follow the data
on a particular individual, although obviously with non-nominal da‐
ta. They cannot link across easily. You have made a reference to da‐
ta-sharing agreements.

Can you explain how a researcher might use those data-sharing
agreements to facilitate an inquiry? Our witnesses earlier today
made it very clear that in the United States there was a very easy
way of following datasets and linking them. What do you see going
forward? What exists now, and how could we improve?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: Thank you very much for the question.

Researchers are a big customer of CIHI. I spoke of 500 data re‐
quests. Many of those were from researchers looking for informa‐

tion to do modelling work to help predict the impacts of the pan‐
demic on the health system as well as to model restarts in terms of
beginning elective surgery and other procedures as things started to
improve.

One of the things that's particularly helpful with the CIHI data is
that it does come with an identifier, so we can follow patients
across datasets in terms of the prescription drugs they've been pre‐
scribed, whether they are in long-term care, in hospital settings or,
in some cases, in primary care. We can follow them across.

That's particularly helpful in looking at health system perfor‐
mance measures such as readmissions or repeat emergency depart‐
ment visits, and it's very helpful at following the complications that
might happen over time. For example, with COVID, it would be
very interesting to know whether there are any long-term health
consequences for patients who test positive that we could follow
over the course of their lifetimes.

However, you're correct that there are data gaps. Some of them
relate to the timeliness of the data. The data that CIHI collects has
been built to facilitate benchmarking across long-term care facili‐
ties, hospitals and health regions, and the benchmarking supports
improved health system performance. The data is complete, it's
comparable, it uses common standards, and it provides very good
information on care, but things like readmissions or pain levels in
long-term care or worsening pressure ulcers are all things that don't
change from day to day, typically, and the improvement efforts are
okay if you can provide that information on a quarterly basis or an
annual basis.

● (1415)

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Ms. Morris, can PHAC use that identifier to
link with their dataset?

The Chair: I'm sorry, Dr. Jaczek, but your time is up.

Ms. Helena Jaczek: Could I have a yes or a no?

Ms. Kathleen Morris: CIHI data could be linked to testing data,
because I believe both of them have a unique identifier.

[Translation]

The Chair: The floor now goes to Mr. Desilets.

Mr. Desilets, you have the floor for two minutes.

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My first question goes to Mr. Flynn.

We have heard about the situation where Dr. Xiangguo Qiu, her
husband, and a group of students were expelled from the National
Microbiology Laboratory in Winnipeg.
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How was the Royal Canadian Mounted Police called on to play a
role in that situation?
[English]

C/Supt Mark Flynn: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The RCMP can confirm they've had referrals with respect to ac‐
tivity at the Winnipeg lab. However, it would be inappropriate and
could potentially impact an investigation if I were to speak to it
with any detail here this afternoon.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: I can understand the situation perfectly.

Can you tell us whether Canada considers that the situation has
anything to do with an espionage activity?
[English]

C/Supt Mark Flynn: As I stated, for me to speak at any level
with respect to the investigation could jeopardize that situation.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Okay, I understand. No problem.

What lesson should we take from the incident?

Is Canada too open to receiving foreign researchers and includ‐
ing them in our teams?

Can it be a simple screening error?
[English]

C/Supt Mark Flynn: In a general sense, without speaking about
this incident, if you look at the history of crime, we have all types
of individuals—Canadians, immigrants and foreign individuals—
who are involved in significant crime in Canada. It's difficult to
speak in generalities around this type of situation.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desilets.
[English]

Thank you.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Desilets: Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: We now go to Mr. Davies.

Mr. Davies, please go ahead for two minutes.

Mr. Don Davies: Thank you.

Mr. Latimer, at his appearance before this committee on April
14, Dr. Amir Attaran said the following:

Scientists need transparent data on the disease from every province to make
mathematically and medically accurate disease models and forecasts. We're not
there, because the provinces hold the data, and sharing it with the Public Health
Agency of Canada is optional. They have no legal obligation to share. Then,
even more foolishly, the Public Health Agency of Canada censors the data be‐
fore it's disclosed to scientists, probably to avoid embarrassing certain provinces.

Can you confirm if PHAC has engaged in the practice of remov‐
ing information from the provincial and territorial COVID-19 data
disclosed to scientists through Statistics Canada?

Mr. Jeff Latimer: I cannot confirm, explain or comment on that.
I have no idea what the Public Health Agency of Canada is doing.
What I can tell you is that it's highly unlikely in the data they're
sharing with us. The only thing we're doing is cleaning it for accu‐
racy. We're not removing or hiding any of the data we put on our
website.

Mr. Don Davies: Okay, thank you.

Mr. Jones, I just want to be clear on this: Can you confirm if
there have been any successful cyber-breaches at Canadian research
institutions working on COVID-19?

Mr. Scott Jones: Yes, we have had successful breaches. We've
been looking to continue to reinforce other research institutions, in‐
cluding through proactive advice and guidance. One of the chal‐
lenges, I think, that's mostly unknown is that research institutions
tend to be what we would call more of a small or medium-sized or‐
ganization, so we'd also refer them to not only the specific health
sector guidance but also the pragmatic steps and advice on guid‐
ance that we've given for small and medium-sized organizations to
look at.
● (1420)

Mr. Don Davies: Can you confirm whether any of those were
state sponsored?

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davies, your two minutes are up.

We are running short of time. We're up against a hard cap.

I'd like to thank all the witnesses once again for being here and
for sharing with us your time and your expertise. We appreciate it.
It will help our study a great deal.

Thank you to the members.

With that, we will adjourn.
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l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


